AGENDA

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP
June 06, 2018 @ 3:00 PM
(To be held directly after the 1:30 p.m. City Council Meeting)
City Hall Council Chamber
120 East Main Street — Apopka, Florida 32703

CALL TO ORDER
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
DISCUSSION

1. Establishment of a Community Development District (CDD) for the New Errol Development - Signature H

ADJOURNMENT

kkkkkkkkkkkkhkkkkkkhkkhhkhkhkhkhkkkkkkkhhhkhkhkhkkkkkhkkhhhhkhkhkkkkkkkhhhhkhkhkkkkkkkhhhkhkhkhkkkkkkkhhhkhkhkhkhkkkkkkkkkkkhkkhkkk

Workshop meetings are opportunities for City Council to discuss specific issues among themselves and with Staff in an open meeting and to
provide policy guidance to staff on items which are not ready for official action. The public is always welcome to attend, and is welcome to
provide comments regarding Workshop items to the Council and Staff outside a meeting. Public comment will not be heard during a
Workshop meeting, but public comment on Workshop items are welcome at the very next regular City Council meeting following a Workshop
meeting. [Resolution 2016-16: Public Participation Policy & Procedures]

In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), persons with disabilities needing a special accommodation to participate in any
of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk's Office at 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL 32703, telephone (407) 703-1704, not later
than five (5) days prior to the proceeding.



New Errol
Community Development District
In the City of Apopka




New Errol
Community Development District

Signature H Property Group, the developer for New Errol, proposes to form a
community development district (“CDD”) to serve New Errol.

The CDD would plan, finance, construct, operate and maintain the public
infrastructure needed for New Errol.

Approval of the CDD is in the best interests of the City and New Errol because:

CDD assures that New Errol’s infrastructure will be perpetually maintained
and operated at the highest standards

CDD provides a cost effective mechanism to fund the infrastructure needed
for New Errol

Assures that all costs associated with the installation, operation and
maintenance of New Errol’s infrastructure will be borne solely by property
owners in New Errol and not impact other property owners in Errol Estate
or in the City

Independent review and monitoring of construction activities assures that
installation of infrastructure meets the high standards established in the
Development Order



What i1s a Community
Development District?

Special-purpose unit of local government created under the Uniform
Community Development Act of 1980, Chapter 190, F.S. charged with
financing, acquiring, operating and maintaining community-wide
infrastructure in large scale planned developments.

Legislation was created to encourage planned community development and to
allow for the financing and maintenance of long-term infrastructure.

A Community Development District (CDD) is established through the
approval of the local government in which it is located for CDDs less than
2,500 acres and by the Governor and Cabinet for CDDs greater than 2,500
acres.

The CDD is governed by a 5-member elected Board of Supervisors.
There are currently in excess of 600 CDDs in the State of Florida.
They have funded over $10 Billion in infrastructure.



Summary of Major Legislative Policies and
Intent of Chapter 190

“That independent districts are a legitimate alternative method available for
use by the private and public sector, as authorized by state law, to manage and

finance basic services for community developments.”
Section 190.002 (2)

(b)
“It 1s further the purpose and the intent of the Legislature that a district created
under this chapter not have or exercise any zoning or development permitting

power,...”
Section 190.002 (3)

“It 1s further the purpose and intent of the Legislature that no debt or
obligation of a district constitute a burden on any local general-purpose

government without its consent.”
Section 190.002 (3)



What Can the Community Development
District Do?

The CDD can finance public infrastructure for residential, commercial and
industrial projects.

The CDD can sell tax-exempt bonds to finance the acquisition and/or
construction of certain improvements.

The CDD is authorized to purchase, finance and construct:
Storm water management infrastructure
Water and wastewater infrastructure (for dedication to the City)
Roadways; including sidewalks, lighting and landscaping
Parks, recreational facilities and civic sites
Conservation preserves and buffer landscaping
Entry features and landscaping
Permitting, testing and engineering
Off-site improvements required by a development order

The CDD is authorized to dedicate to the City those facilities that the
developer is required to dedicate by the project’s Development Order.



What Can the Community Development
District Do? (cont’d)

The CDD can assume the maintenance responsibilities for the previously
mentioned improvements.

The CDD is a more reliable maintenance entity than a property owner’s
association and is favored by the water management districts and the
Army Corps of Engineers. (i.e. maintenance of lakes, walls, drainage
swales, berms etc.)

The CDD is also granted the power to levy non-ad valorem special
assessments only upon properties within the CDD boundaries in order to repay
bonds issued by the CDD and for the annual operation and maintenance of the
CDD. Assessments are co-equal with City taxes and other special
assessments.

The CDD can enter into an inter local agreement with the City.



What the CDD Cannot Do

The District cannot take any action which is inconsistent with the
comprehensive plans, ordinances and regulations of the City.

The CDD does not have the power to adopt its own comprehensive plan,
building code or land development code.

All of the District’s powers must comply with all applicable City laws, rules,
regulations, and policies governing planning and permitting of the
development.

No debt of the District can constitute a burden on the City or any resident
within the existing Errol Estate that 1s outside ‘New Errol’.

The CDD cannot provide any services or facilities which will be incompatible
with the capacity and uses of the City’s community development services and
facilities.

Special assessments levied by the CDD do not impact millage caps of either
the City or School Board or any other government.



What are the CDD’s Reporting
Requirements?

Must follow all applicable procedural and reporting rules required of local
governments under Florida Statutes including:

Elections

Bidding and awarding of contracts

Advertising of meetings and holding meetings in the “Sunshine”
Must fulfill governmental reporting requirements including:

Preparation and maintenance of minutes of meetings of Board of
Supervisors as public records

Maintenance of official records
Reporting and filing of financial information
Must establish and administer internal accounting controls.

Must disclose to potential landowners the existence of the CDD and the
amount of the special assessments levied by the CDD for both debt service and

operation and maintenance.
8



Protections for the City

No current or future resident outside the boundaries of the CDD will ever be
assessed by the CDD.

City retains all zoning and permitting authority.

CDD debt is never disclosed in the City’s financial statements.
Improvements are funded in Trust.

No administrative costs to the City.

All assessments must be disclosed to prospective home buyers/land
purchasers.



Benefits of the CDD to the City

Stable financing source for new public projects.
No financial burden on residents outside of the CDD.

Assures particular project is funded since bond proceeds are provided
upfront and deposited into a trust account. This is related to the phasing
aspects of the main spine road. Given all funds are provided upfront
development of the major roadway is assured and may possibly be accelerated

Increased tax base for the City.

More stable maintenance entity to ensure quality communities. long after
developer is gone.

Ensures that growth pays for itself.

10



CDDs Enhance Planned Community
Development

Most highly amenitized community developments are CDDs

Best selling community developments in the State are CDDs (e.g. The
Villages, Lake Nona, Nocatee, Lakewood Ranch)

Accelerated infrastructure construction

Higher level of service

Higher quality of infrastructure

Assurance of long term / high quality maintenance

11



CDDs Enhance Planned Community
Development (cont’d)

Fieldhouse and Clubhouse

Oakleaf Plantation Development
Double Branch CDD




CDDs Enhance Planned Community
Development (cont’d)

Clubhouse and Amenities

Oakleaf Plantation Development
Double Branch CDD

13



CDDs Enhance Planned Community
Development (cont’d)

pool pavilion

Y £

Pool Pavilion

Mirabay Development
Harbor Bay CDD

Fitness Center
Mirabay Development
Harbor Bay CDD

14



Benefits to the Residents
Living in the CDD

High quality improvements and amenities.

Assessments are disclosed in marketing materials and sale contracts.
Residents have the option to prepay at anytime without penalty.
CDD outlives the developer.

Resident participation and input is encouraged.

Stability of collection of assessments.

Liability for assessments limited to individual parcels.
Professionally managed - better than HOA.

Meetings advertised and held in the “Sunshine”.

Property values maintained at higher level.

Residents gain control of the CDD over a six to eight year period.

Benefits of limited liability (Example: Without the CDD, an aggressive award
for an injury or death on the common areas has the potential to cripple the Golf
Operations financial condition which could then have a cascading affect on
residential home values)

15



Disclosure of the CDD
to Prospective Buyers

CDD must provide a disclosure document to developers explaining CDD
functions and annual assessments.

Recorded notice of establishment must be filed in public property records
within 30 days of the CDD being created.

Chapter 190, F.S. requires disclosure information be provided to the buyer
including specific language in bold print above the signature line of the retail
sales contract.

Assessment lien is filed in public property records.

CDD must comply with Chapter 170, 190, 197 F.S. regarding noticing and
holding public meetings to levy special assessments.

16



How will the CDD be established?
Step 1

File a petition with the City. The petition shall contain the following
information:;

A metes and bounds description of the external boundaries of the district.

The written consent to the establishment of the district by the owner or
owners of 100 percent of the real property to be included in the district.

A designation of five persons to be the initial members of the board of
Supervisors.

The proposed name of the district.
A map of the proposed district.

17



How will the CDD be established?

Step 1 (cont’d)

The proposed timetable for the construction of the district improvements
and the estimated cost of constructing the proposed improvements.

A designation of the future general distribution, location, and extent of
public and private uses of land proposed for the area within the district.

A Statement of Estimated Regulatory Cost summarizing the impact of the
district upon local governments.

18



How will the CDD be established?
Step 2

Meet with staff to discuss petition and any outstanding issues.

Hold public hearing with the City Council to adopt the ordinance establishing
the CDD.

19



CDD Financing

After establishment, the district must complete the bond validation process in
circuit court pursuant to Chapter 75, F.S.

Improvements are identified and a benefit analysis is conducted by district
financial advisor.

Debt is allocated only on benefited parcels based upon benefit received.

Prior to the issuance of bonds, the district must complete the assessment
process pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, F.S.

20



CDD Financing - Long Term Bonds

Bonds repaid by fixed annual assessments levied against all benefited property
in the district for a term of 30 years.

Assessments paid by developer on unsold land.

Annual assessment includes principal and interest and is collected via the
Uniform Method of Collection (i.e., county tax bill).

Debt allocated to land based upon benefit received.
Assessments and related debt may be prepaid at any time.

It 1s the intent that the ‘Capital’ allocation to the residential development
will be repaid with each residential closing resulting in an annual
assessment essentially similar to that of a professionally HOA/POA

21



CDD Plan for New Errol

The CDD will construct all the public infrastructure for New Errol at an
estimated cost of $21,000,000 exclusive of financing costs

The CDD would dedicate the public roadways and utilities to the city

The CDD will retain ownership of the stormwater management system and
landscaping and will maintain these facilities

The CDD will be funding the same costs that would be funded under a
traditional infrastructure loan but again creates long term benefits to the
Community not assured with traditional financing

Category Construction Ownership Maintenance
Roadways CDD City City
Stormwater Management CDD CDD CDD
Utilities CcDD City City
Landscape CDD CDD CDD

22



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

MvFloridaHouse.gov | Flsenate.gov Archives | Mobile Site Senate Tracker: Sign Up | Login

Lowe W 0w (e o Era—

‘THE
ELORIDA

SENAT Home ’ Senators ‘ Committees | Session ’ Laws ‘ Media J About | Offices ‘ Reference | Tracker

Home > Laws > 2018 Florida Statutes > Title X|Il > Chapter 190
2018 Florida Statutes

L PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
CHAPTER 490 * Index to Special and Local

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS aws (1971-2017) [PDF]
190.001 Short title. * Index to Special and Local
190.002 Legislative findings, policies, and intent. Laws [18:45:1970) [',)DF]
190.003 Definitions. * Preface ta the Florida Statutes
190.004 Preemption; sole authority. {2018) [PDF] ‘
190.005 Establishment of district. * Iable of Section Changes
190.006 Board of supervisors; members and meetings. (2018) [PDF] i
190.007 Board of supervisors; general duties. e foniloesforen i
190.008 Budget; reports and reviews. M [PDF]_
190.009 Disclosure of public financing. * Iable Tracing Sesslon Laws to
190.011 General powers. ﬂmamm .[PDF]
190,012 Special powers; public improvements and community facilities. * Houdi e Detiin,
190.0125 Purchase, privatization, or sale of water, sewer, or wastewater reuse utility by district. J_nd_e;_(lel}_[PDi‘f]
190,013 Water management and control plan. = S_Lalule_ieamh_'ﬁn& ‘
190.014 Issuance of bond anticipation notes. * Ay Brior
190.015 Short-term borrowing. | 20

190.016 Bonds.

190.017 Trust agreements.

190.021 Taxes; non-ad valorem assessments.

190.022 Special assessments.

190.023 Issuance of certificates of indebtedness based on assessments for assessable improvements;
assessment bonds.

190.024 Tax liens,

190.025 Payment of taxes and redemption of tax liens by the district; sharing in proceeds of tax sale.
190.026 Foreclosure of liens.

190.031 Mandatory use of certain district facilities and services.

190.033 Bids required.

190.035 Fees, rentals, and charges; procedure for adoption and modifications; minimum revenue
requirements.

190.036 Recovery of delinquent charges.

190.037 Discontinuance of service.

190.041 Enforcement and penalties.

190.043 Suits against the district.

190.044 Exemption of district property from execution.

190.046 Termination, contraction, or expansion of district.

190.047 Incorporation or annexation of district.

190.048 Sale of real estate within a district; required disclosure to purchaser.

190.0485 Notice of establishment.

190.049 Special acts prohibited.

190.001 Short title.—This act may be cited as the “Uniform Community Development District Act of
1980.”

hitp://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 1 90/A11[5/20/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate
History.—s. 2, ch, 80-407.

190.002 Legislative findings, policies, and intent.—

(1) The Legislature finds that:

(a) There is a need for uniform, focused, and fair procedures in state law to provide a reasonable
alternative for the establishment, power, operation, and duration of independent districts to manage and
finance basic community development services; and that, based upon a proper and fair determination of
applicable facts, an independent district can constitute a timely, efficient, effective, responsive, and
economic way to deliver these basic services, thereby providing a solution to the state’s planning,
management, and financing needs for delivery of capital infrastructure in order to service projected growth
without overburdening other governments and their taxpayers.

(b) It isin the public interest that any independent special district created pursuant to state law not
outlive its usefulness and that the operation of such a district and the exercise by the district of its powers be
consistent with applicable due process, disclosure, accountability, ethics, and government-in-the-sunshine
requirements which apply both to governmental entities and to their elected and appointed officials.

(c) Itisin the public interest that long-range planning, management, and financing and long-term
maintenance, upkeep, and operation of basic services for community development districts be under one
coordinated entity.

(2) It is the policy of this state:

(a) That the needless and indiscriminate proliferation, duplication, and fragmentation of local general-
purpose government services by independent districts is not in the public interest.

(b) That independent districts are a legitimate alternative method available for use by the private and
public sectors, as authorized by state law, to manage and finance basic services for community
developments.

(c) That the exercise by any independent district of its powers as set forth by uniform general law comply
with all applicable governmental laws, rules, regulations, and policies governing planning and permitting of
the development to be serviced by the district, to ensure that neither the establishment nor operation of
such district is a development order under chapter 380 and that the district so established does not have any
zoning or permitting powers governing development.

(d) That the process of establishing such a district pursuant to uniform general law be fair and based only
on factors material to managing and financing the service delivery function of the district, so that any matter
concerning permitting or planning of the development is not material or relevant.

(3) Itis the legislative intent and purpose, based upon, and consistent with, its findings of fact and
declarations of policy, to authorize a uniform procedure by general law to establish an independent special
district as an alternative method to manage and finance basic services for community development. It is
further the legislative intent and purpose to provide by general law for the uniform operation, exercise of
power, and procedure for termination of any such independent district. It is further the purpose and intent of
the Legislature that a district created under this chapter not have or exercise any zoning or development
permitting power, that the establishment of the independent community development district as provided in
this act not be a development order within the meaning of chapter 380, and that all applicable planning and
permitting laws, rules, regulations, and policies control the development of the land to be serviced by the
district. It is further the purpose and intent of the Legislature that no debt or obligation of a district
constitute a burden on any local general-purpose government without its consent.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 1, ch. 84-360.

190.003 Definitions.—As used in this chapter, the term:

(1) “Ad valorem bonds” means bonds which are payable from the proceeds of ad valorem taxes levied on
real and tangible personal property and which are generally referred to as general obligation bonds.

(2) “Assessable improvements” means, without limitation, any and all public improvements and
community facilities that the district is empowered to provide in accordance with this act.

(3) “Assessment bonds” means special obligations of the district which are payable solely from proceeds
of the special assessments levied for an assessable project.

(4) “Board” or “board of supervisors” means the governing board of the district or, if such board has been
abolished, the board, body, or commission succeeding to the principal functions thereof or to whom the
powers given to the board by this act have been given by law.

(5) “Bond” includes “certificate,” and the provisions which are applicable to bonds are equally applicable
to certificates. The term “bond” includes any general obligation bond, assessment bond, refunding bond,
revenue bond, and other such obligation in the nature of a bond as is provided for in this act, as the case may
be.

(6) “Community development district” means a local unit of special-purpose government which is created

http://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

pursuant to this act and limited to the performance of those specialized functions authorized by this act; the
governing head of which is a body created, organized, and constituted and authorized to function specifically
as prescribed in this act for the purpose of the delivery of urban community development services; and the
formation, powers, governing body, operation, duration, accountability, requirements for disclosure, and
termination of which are as required by general law.

{7) “Compact, urban, mixed-use district” means a district located within a municipality and within a
community redevetopment area created pursuant to s. 163.356, that consists of a maximum of 75 acres, and
has development entitlements of at teast 400,000 square feet of retail development and 500 residential
units,

{8) “Cost,” when used with reference to any project, includes, but is not limited to:

{a) The expenses of determining the feasibility or practicability of acquisition, construction, or
reconstruction.

(b) The cost of surveys, estimates, plans, and specifications.

{¢} The cost of improvements.

{d) Engineering, fiscal, and legal expenses and charges.

{e) The cast of all labor, materials, machinery, and equipment.

{f) The cost of all lands, properties, rights, easements, and franchises acquired.

{g) Financing charges.

(h} The creation of initial reserve and debt service funds.

(i} Working capital.

{(j} Interest charges incurred or estimated to be incurred on money borrowed prior to and during
construction and acquisition and for such reascnable pericd of time after comptetion of construction or

acquisition as the board may determine.

(k} The cost of issuance of bonds pursuant to this act, including advertisements and printing.

(l} The cost of any election held pursuant to this act and all other expenses of issuance of bonds.

(m} The discount, if any, on the sale or exchange of bonds.

(n) Administrative expenses.

(0) Such other expenses as may be necessary or incidental to the acquisition, construction, or
recenstruction of any project or to the financing thereof, or to the development of any lands within the
district.

(p} Payments, contributions, dedications, fair share or concurrency obligations, and any other exactions
required as a condition to receive any government approval or permit necessary to accomplish any district
purpose.

(9) “District” means the community development district.

(1) “District manager” means the manager of the district.

{t1) “District roads” means highways, streets, roads, alleys, sidewalks, landscaping, storm drains,
bridges, and thorocughfares of all kinds and descriptions,

(12) “Elector” means a landowner or qualified elector.

{13) “General obligation honds" means bonds which are secured by, or provide for their payment by, the
pledge, in addition to those special taxes levied for their discharge and such other sources as may be
provided for their payment or pledged as security under the resolution authorizing their issuance, of the full
faith and credit and taxing power of the district and for payment of which recourse may be had against the
general fund of the district.

(14) “Landowner” means the owner of a freehold estate as appears by the deed record, including a
trustee, a private corporation, and an owner of a condominium unit; it does not include a reversioner,

remainderman, mortgagee, or any governmental entity, who shall not be counted and need not be notified of
proceedings under this act. Landowner shall also mean the owner of a ground lease from a governmental
entity, which leasehold interest has a remaining term, excluding all renewal options, in excess of 50 years.

{15) “Local general-purpose government” means a county, municipality, or consolidated city-county
government.

{16) “Project” means any development, improvement, property, utility, facility, works, enterprise, or
service now existing or hereafter undertaken or established under the provisions of this act.

{17} “Qualified elector” means any person at {east 18 years of age who s a citizen of the United States, a
legat resident of Florida and of the district, and who registers to vote with the supervisor of elections in the
county in which the district land is located.

(18) *“Refunding bonds” means bonds issued to refinance outstanding bonds of any type and the interest
and redemption premium thereon. Refunding bonds shall be issuable and payable in the same manner as the
refinanced bonds, except that no approval by the electorate shall be required unless required by the State
Constitution.

http:/fwwew flsenate. gov/Laws/Stalutes/20 18/Chapter190/AIIE5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

{19} “Revenue bonds" means obligations of the district which are payable from revenues derived from
sources other than ad valorem taxes on real or tangible personal property and which do not pledge the
property, credit, or general tax revenue of the district.

{20} “Sewer system” means any plant, system, facility, or property, and additions, extensions, and
improvernents thereto at any future time constructed or acquired as part thereof, useful or necessary or
having the present capacity for future use in connection with the collection, treatment, purification, or
disposal of sewage, inciuding, without limitation, industrial wastes resulting from any process of industry,
manufacture, trade, or business or from the development of any natural resource. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the term “sewer system” includes treatment plants, pumping stations, lift
stations, valves, force mains, intercepting sewers, laterals, pressure lines, mains, and all necessary
appurtenances and equipment; akl sewer mains, laterals, and other devices for the reception and collection
of sewage from premises connected therewith; and all real and personal property and any interest therein,
rights, easements, and franchises of any nature relating to any stuch system and necessary or convenient for
operation thereof,

(21} “Water management and control facilities” means any lakes, canals, ditches, reservoirs, dams,
tevees, sluiceways, floodways, curbs, gutters, pumping stations, or any other works, structures, or facilities
for the conservation, control, development, utilization, and disposal of water, and any purposes appurtenant,
necessary, or incidental thereto. The term “water management and control facilities” includes all real and
persanal property and any interest therein, rights, easements, and franchises of any nature relating to any
such water management and controt facilities or necessary or convenient for the acquisition, construction,
reconstruction, operation, or maintenance thereof,

(22) “Water system™ means any plant, system, facility, or property and additions, extensions, and
improvements thereto at any future time constructed or acquired as part thereof, usefut or necessary or
having the present capacity for future use in connection with the development of sources, treatment, or
purification and distribution of water. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the term “water
system” includes dams, reservairs, storage, tanks, mains, lines, valves, hydrants, pumping stations, chilled
water distribution systems, laterals, and pipes for the purpose of carrying water to the premises connected
with such system, and all rights, easements, and franchises of any nature relating to any such system and
necessary or convenient for the operation thereof.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 2, ch. 84-360; 5. 10, ch. 87-363; s. 2, ch. 91-308; 5, 33, ch, 2000-364; 5. 1, ch. 20607-160; 5. 1, ch.
2009-142.

190.004 Preemption; sole authority.—

(1) This act constitutes the sole authorization for the future establishment of independent community
development districts which have any of the specialized functions and powers provided by this act.

(2} The adoption of chapter 84-360, Laws of Florida, does not affect the validity of the establishment of
any community development district or other special district existing on June 29, 1984; and existing
community development districts will be subject to the pravisions of chapter 190, as amended. All actions
taken prior to July 1, 2000, by a community devetopment district existing on June 29, 1984, if taken pursuant
to the authority contained in chapter 80-407, Laws of Florida, or this chapter are hereby deemed to have
adequate statutory authority. Nothing herein shall affect the validity of any outstanding indebtedness of a
community development district established prior to June 29, 1984, and such district is hereby authorized to
continue to comply with all terms and requirements of trust indentures or loan agreements relating to such
outstanding indebtedness.

(3) The estabtishment of an independent community development district as provided in this act is not a
development order within the meaning of chapter 380. All governmental ptanning, environmental, and land
development laws, regulations, and ordinances appty te all development of the land within a community
development district. Cormmunity development districts do not have the power of a local government to
adopt a comprehensive plan, building code, or land development code, as those terms are defined in the
Community Planning Act. A district shall take no action which is inconsistent with applicable comprehensive
ptans, ordinances, or regukations of the applicable local general-purpose government.

{4) The exclusive charter for a community development district shall be the uniform comnmunity
development district charter as set forth in ss. 190.006-190.041, including the special powers provided by s.
190,012,

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 3, ch. 84-360; 5. 27, ch. 85-55; s, 34, ch, 87-224; 5. 34, ch. 99-178; 5. 9, ch, 2000-304; s. 39, ch.
20%1-139.

190,005 Establishment of district.—
{1} The exclusive and uniform method for the establishment of a community development district with a
size of 2,500 acres or more shall be pursuant to a rule, adopted under chapter 120 by the Florida Land and

http:/Awww. fisenate gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11{5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM}




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

Water Adjudicatory Commission, granting a petition for the establishment of a community development
district.

(a} A petition for the establishment of a community development district shall be fited by the petitioner
with the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission, The petition shall contain:

1. A metes and bounds description of the external boundaries of the district. Any real property within the
external boundaries of the district which is to be excluded from the district shall be specifically described,
and the tast known address of all owners of such real property shall be tisted. The petition shall also address
the impact of the proposed district on any real property within the external boundaries of the district which
is to be excluded from the district.

2. The written consent to the establishment of the district by all landowners whose real property is to be
included in the district or documentation demonstrating that the petitioner has control by deed, trust
agreement, contract, or option of 100 percent of the real property to be inctuded in the district, and when
real property to be included in the district is owned by a governmental entity and subject to a ground lease
as described in s. 190.003(14), the written consent by such governmental entity,

3. A designation of five persons to be the initial members of the board of supervisors, who shall serve in
that office until replaced by elected members as provided in s. 190.006.

4, The proposed name of the district.

5. A map of the proposed district showing current major trunk water mains and sewer interceptors and
cutfalls if in existence,

6. Based upon available data, the proposed timetable for construction of the district services and the

estimated cost of constructing the proposed services, These estimates shatl be submitted in good faith but
are not binding and may be subject to change.

7. A designation of the future generai distribution, location, and extent of public and private uses of land
proposed for the area within the district by the future land use plan element of the effective local
government comprehensive plan of which alt mandatory elements have been adopted by the applicable
generak-purpose lecal government in compliance with the Community Planning Act.

8. Astatement of estimated regulatory costs in accordance with the requirements of s. 120.541.

(by Prior to filing the petition, the petitioner shail:

1. Pay a filing fee of $15,000 to the county, if located within an unincorporated area, or to the
municipality, if located within an incorporated area, and to each municipality the boundaries of which are
contiguous with, or contain all or a portion of the land within, the external boundaries of the district.

2. Submit a copy of the petition to the county, if tocated within an unincorporated area, or to the
municipality, if located within an incorporated area, and to each municipality the boundaries of which are
contigucus with, or contain all or a portion of, the land within the external boundaries of the district.

3. Ifland to be included within a district is located partially within the unincorporated area of one or
meore counties and partially within a municipality or within two or more municipalities, pay a $15,000 fiting
fee to each entity. Districts established across county boundaries shatt be required to maintain records, hold
meetings and hearings, and publish notices only in the county where the majority of the acreage within the
district lies,

{c) Such county and each such municipality required by law to receive a petition may cenduct a public
hearing to consider the retationship of the petition to the factors specified in paragraph (e). The public
hearing shall be concluded within 45 days after the date the petition is filed uniess an extension of time is
requested by the petitioner and granted by the county or municipality. The county or municipatity hotding
such public hearing may by resolution express its support of, or objection to the granting of, the petition by
the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission. A resolution must base any objection to the granting of
the petition upon the factors specified in paragraph {e}. Such county or municipality may present its
resolution of support or objection at the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission hearing and shall
be afforded an opportunity to present relevant information in support of its resolution.

{d) Alocal public hearing on the petition shall be conducted by a hearing officer in conformance with the
applicable requirements and procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act. The hearing shall include oral
and written comments on the petition pertinent to the factors specified in paragraph (e}, The hearing shall
be held at an accessible tocation in the county in which the community devetopment district is to be located,
The petitioner shall cause a notice of the hearing to be published in a newspaper at least once a week for the
4 successive weeks immediately prior to the hearing. Such notice shall give the time and place for the
hearing, a description of the area te be included in the district, which description shatt include a map
showing clearty the area to be covered by the district, and any other relevant information which the
estabtishing governing bodies may require. The advertisement shall not be placed in that portion of the
newspaper where legal notices and classified advertisements appear. The advertisement shall be published in
a newspaper of general paid circulation in the county and of general interest and readership in the

hitp:/fvww, flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/201 8/Chapter [ 90/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 ~ 2018 Florida Statutes - The Flesida Senate

cormunity, not one of limited subject matter, pursuant to chapter 50. Whenever possible, the advertisement
shatl appear in a newspaper that is published at least 5 days a week, unless the only newspaper in the
community is published fewer than 5 days a week. In addition to being published in the newspaper, the map
referenced above must be part of the online advertisement required pursuant to s. 50.0211. All affected units
of general-purpose local government and the generat public shall be given an opportunity to appear at the
hearing and present oral or written comments on the petition,

(e} The Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission shall consider the entire record of the local
hearing, the transcript of the hearing, resolutions adopted by local general-purpose governments as provided
in paragraph (c), and the following factors and make a determination to grant or deny a petition for the
establishment of a community devetopment district:

1. Whether all statements contained within the petition have been found to be true and correct.

2. Whether the establishment of the district is inconsistent with any applicable element or portion of the
state comprehensive plan or of the effective local government comprehensive plan.

3. Whether the area of land within the proposed district is of sufficient size, is sufficiently compact, and
is sufficiently contiguous to be developable as one functional interrelated community.

4, Whether the district is the best alternative available for delivering community development services
and facilities to the area that will be served by the district.

5. Whether the community development services and facilities of the district wilt be incompatible with
the capacity and uses of existing locat and regional community development services and facilities.

6. Whether the area that will be served by the district is amenable to separate special-district
government,

{f) The Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission shalt not adopt any rule which would expand,
modify, or delete any provision of the uniform community development district charter as set forth in ss.
190.006-190.041, except as provided in s. 190.012. A rule establishing a community development district shall
only contain the following:

£. A metes and bounds description of the external boundaries of the district and any real property within
the external boundaries of the district which is to be excluded.

2. The names of five persons designated to be the initial members of the board of supervisors.

3. The name of the district.

(g) The Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission may adopt rules setting forth its procedures for
considering petitions to establish, expand, modify, or delete uniform community development districts or
portions thereof consistent with the provisions of this section.

(2) The exclusive and uniform method for the establishment of a community development district of less
than 2,500 acres in size or a community development district of up to 7,000 acres in size located within a
connected-city corridor established pursuant to s. 163.3246(13} shall be pursuant to an ordinance adopted by
the county commission of the county having jurisdiction over the majority of land in the area in which the
district is to be tocated granting a petition for the establishment of a community development district as
follows:

{a) A petition for the establishment of a community development district shall be filed by the petitioner
with the county commission, The petition shalt contain the same information as required in paragraph {1)(a).

{b) A public hearing on the petition shall be conducted by the county commission in accordance with the
requirements and procedures of paragraph ({}{d).

{c} The county commission shalt consider the record of the public hearing and the factors set forth in
paragraph (1}(e) in making its determination to grant or deny a petition for the establishment of a community
development district,

(d} The county commission may not adopt any ordinance which would expand, medify, or delete any
pravision of the uniform community development district charter as set forth in ss. 190.006-190.041, An
ordinance establishing a community development district shall enly include the matters provided for in
paragraph {1){f) unless the commission consents to any of the optional powers under s. 190.012(2) at the
request of the petitioner.

(e} If akt of the land in the area for the proposed district is within the territorial jurisdiction of a
muricipal corporation, then the petition requesting establishment of a community development district under
this act shall be filed by the petitioner with that particutar municipal corporation. In such event, the duties
of the county, hereinabove described, in action upon the petition shall be the duties of the municipat
corporation, |f any of the land area of a proposed district is within the land area of a municipatity, the county
commission may not create the district without municipal approval. If all of the land in the area for the
propased district, even if less than 2,500 acres, is within the territorial jurisdiction of two or more
municipalities or two or more counties, except for proposed districts within a connected-city corridor
established pursuant to s, 163.3246(13), the petition shatl be filed with the Florida Land and Water

hitp://vwenwy. flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter] 90/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM])




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

Adjudicatory Commission and proceed in accordance with subsection (1).

(f) Notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, within 90 days after a petition for the
establishment of a community development district has been filed pursuant to this subsection, the governing
bady of the county or municipal corporation may transfer the petition to the Florida Land and Water
Adjudicatory Commission, which shall make the determination to grant or deny the petition as provided in
subsection (1). A county or municipal corporation shall have no right or power to grant or deny a petition that
has been transferred to the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission.

(3) The governing body of any existing special district, created to provide one or more of the public
improvements and community facilities authorized by this act, may petition for reestablishment of the
existing district as a community development district pursuant to this act. The petition shall contain the
information specified in subparagraphs (1)(a)1., 3., 4., 5., 6., and 7. and shall not require payment of a fee
pursuant to paragraph (1)(b). In such case, the new district so formed shall assume the existing obligations,
indebtedness, and guarantees of indebtedness of the district so subsumed, and the existing district shall be
terminated.

History,—s. 2, ch. 80-407; ss. 4, 5, ch. 84-360; s. 28, ch. 85-55; s. 35, ch. 87-224; s. 34, ch. 96-410; 5. 6, ch, 98-146; s, 35, ch.
99-378; s, 34, ch. 2000-364; s. 2, ch. 2007-160; s. 33, ch. 2008-4; s. 4, ch, 2009-142; s. 40, ch. 2011-139; s. 6, ch. 2012-212; 5.
13, ch. 2015-30; s. 1, ch. 2016-94; s. 10, ch. 2018-158.

190.006 Board of supervisors; members and meetings.—

(1) The board of the district shall exercise the powers granted to the district pursuant to this act. The
board shall consist of five members; except as otherwise provided herein, each member shall hold office for a
term of 2 years or 4 years, as provided in this section, and until a successor is chosen and qualifies. The
members of the board must be residents of the state and citizens of the United States.

(2)(a) Within 90 days following the effective date of the rule or ordinance establishing the district, there
shall be held a meeting of the landowners of the district for the purpose of electing five supervisors for the
district. Notice of the landowners’ meeting shall be published once a week for 2 consecutive weeks in a
newspaper which is in general circulation in the area of the district, the last day of such publication to be not
fewer than 14 days or more than 28 days before the date of the election. The landowners, when assembled at
such meeting, shall organize by electing a chair who shall conduct the meeting. The chair may be any person
present at the meeting. If the chair is a landowner or proxy holder of a landowner, he or she may nominate
candidates and make and second motions.

(b) At such meeting, each landowner shall be entitled to cast one vote per acre of land owned by him or
her and located within the district for each person to be elected. A landowner may vote in person or by proxy
in writing. Each proxy must be signed by one of the legal owners of the property for which the vote is cast
and must contain the typed or printed name of the individual who signed the proxy; the street address, legal
description of the property, or tax parcel identification number; and the number of authorized votes. If the
proxy authorizes more than one vote, each property must be listed and the number of acres of each property
must be included. The signature on a proxy need not be notarized. A fraction of an acre shall be treated as 1
acre, entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto. For purposes of determining voting interests,
platted lots shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre. The acreage of platted
lots shall not be aggregated for determining the number of voting units held by a landowner or a landowner’s
proxy. The two candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected for a period of 4 years, and
the three candidates receiving the next largest number of votes shall be elected for a period of 2 years, with
the term of office for each successful candidate commencing upon election. The members of the first board
elected by landowners shall serve their respective 4-year or 2-year terms; however, the next election by
landowners shall be held on the first Tuesday in November. Thereafter, there shall be an election of
supervisors for the district every 2 years in November on a date established by the board and noticed
pursuant to paragraph (a). The second and subsequent landowners' election shall be announced at a public
meeting of the board at least 90 days prior to the date of the landowners' meeting and shall also be noticed
pursuant to paragraph (a). Instructions on how all landowners may participate in the election, along with
sample proxies, shall be provided during the board meeting that announces the landowners’ meeting. The
two candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected to serve for a 4-year period, and the
remaining candidate elected shall serve for a 2-year period.

(3)(a)1. If the board proposes to exercise the ad valorem taxing power authorized by s. 190.021, the
district board shall call an election at which the members of the board of supervisors will be elected. Such
election shall be held in conjunction with a primary or general election unless the district bears the cost of a
special election. Each member shall be elected by the qualified electors of the district for a term of 4 years,
except that, at the first such election, three members shall be elected for a period of 4 years and two
members shall be elected for a period of 2 years. All elected board members must be qualified electors of

http://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/20 18 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

the district.

2,a, Regardless of whether a district has proposed to tevy ad valorem taxes, commencing 6 years after
the initial appointment of members or, for a district exceeding 5,000 acres in area or for a compact, urban,
mixed-use district, 10 years after the initial appointiment of members, the position of each member whose
term has expired shall be filled by a qualified elector of the district, elected by the qualified electors of the
district. However, for those districts established after June 21, 1991, and for those existing districts
established after December 31, 1983, which have less than 50 qualified etectors on June 21, 1991, sub-
subparagraphs b. and d. shall apply. If, in the 6th year after the initial appointment of members, or 10 vears
after such initial appointment for districts exceeding 5,000 acres in area or for a compact, urban, mixed-use
district, there are not at least 250 qualified electors in the district, or for a district exceeding 5,000 acres or
for a compact, urban, mixed-use district, there are not at least 500 qualified etectors, members of the board
shalk continue to be elected by landowners.

b. After the 6th or 10th year, once a district reaches 250 or 500 qualified electors, respectively, then the
positions of two board members whose terms are expiring shall be filted by qualified electors of the district,
elected by the quatified electors of the district for 4-year terms. The remaining board member whose term is
expiring shall be elected for a 4-year term by the landowners and is not required to be a quatified elector,
Thereafter, as terms expire, board members shall be qualified electors elected by qualified electors of the
district for a term of 4 years.

c. Once a district qualifies to have any of its hoard members elected by the qualified electors of the
district, the initiat and all subsequent elections by the qualified electors of the district shall be held at the
general election in November. The board shall adopt a resolution if necessary to implement this requirement
when the board determines the number of qualified electors as required by sub-subparagraph d., to extend or
reduce the terms of current board members.

d. On or before June 1 of each year, the board shall determine the number of qualified electors in the
district as of the immediately preceding April 15. The board shalt use and rely upon the officiat records
maintained by the supervisor of etections and property appraiser or tax collector in each county in making
this determination. Such determination shall be made at a properly noticed meeting of the board and shall
become a part of the official minutes of the district.

{b) Elections of board members by qualified electors held pursuant to this subsection shalt be nonpartisan
and shall be conducted in the manner prescribed by law for holding general elections. The district shall
publish a notice of the qualifying period set by the supervisor of elections for each election at least 2 weeks
prior to the start of the qualifying period. Board members shall assume the office on the second Tuesday
following their election. If no elector qualifies for a seat to be filled in an election, a vacancy in that seat
shall be dectared by the board effective on the second Tuesday following the etection. Within 90 days
thereafter, the board shall appoint a qualified elector to filt the vacancy. Until such appeintment, the
incumbent board member in that seat shall remain in office.

{¢) Candidates seeking election to office by qualified electors under this subsection shall conduct their
campalgns in accordance with the provisions of chapter 106 and shall fite qualifying papers and qualify for
individual seats in accordance with s. 99.061.

{dy The supervisor of elections shalt appoint the inspectors and clerks of elections, prepare and furnish
the ballots, designate polling places, and canvass the returns of the election of board members by qualified
electors. The county canvassing board shall declare and certify the results of the election.

{4} Members of the board shall be known as supervisors and, upon entering into office, shalt take and
subscribe to the cath of office as prescribed by s. 876.05. They shall hold office for the terms for which they
were elected or appointed and until their successors are chosen and qualified. If, during the term of office, a
vacancy occurs, the remaining members of the board shalt fill the vacancy by an appointment for the
remainder of the unexpired term,

{5} A majority of the members of the board constitutes a quorum for the purposes of conducting its
husiness and exercising its powers and for all other purposes. Action taken by the district shall be upon a vote
of a majority of the members present unless generat law or a rule of the district requires a greater number.

{6} As soon as practicable after each election or appointment, the board shall organize by electing one of
its members as chair and by electing a secretary, who need not be a member of the board, and such other
officers as the board may deem necessary.

{7} The hoard shall keep a permanent record book entitled “Record of Proceedings of _(name of district)
Community Bevelopment District,” in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions,
proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all corporate acts. The record book shall
at reasonable times be opened to inspection in the same manner as state, county, and municipal records
pursuant to chapter 119, The record book shall be kept at the office or other regular place of business
maintained by the board in the county ar municipality in which the district is located or within the boundaries

http://wwaw flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/20 18/Chapter § 90/AlI[5/26/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

of a development of regional impact or Florida Quality Development, or combination of a development of
regional impact and Florida Quality Development, which includes the district.

(8) Each supervisor shall be entitled to receive for his or her services an amount not to exceed $200 per
meeting of the board of supervisors, not to exceed $4,800 per year per supervisor, or an amount established
by the electors at referendum. In addition, each supervisor shall receive travel and per diem expenses as set
forth ins. 112.061.

(9) All meetings of the board shall be open to the public and governed by the provisions of chapter 286.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s, 6, ch, 84-360; s, 23, ch. 85-80; s. 3, ch. 91-308; s. 962, ch. 95-147; s, 36, ch, 99-378; s. 19, ch.
2000-158; s. 35, ch, 2004-345; s. 32, ch. 2004-353; s. 3, ch. 2007-160; s, 33, ch, 2008-95; s. 2, ch. 2009-142,

190.007 Board of supervisors; general duties.—

(1) The board shall employ, and fix the compensation of, a district manager. The district manager shall
have charge and supervision of the works of the district and shall be responsible for preserving and
maintaining any improvement or facility constructed or erected pursuant to the provisions of this act, for
maintaining and operating the equipment owned by the district, and for performing such other duties as may
be prescribed by the board. It shall not be a conflict of interest under chapter 112 for a board member or the
district manager or another employee of the district to be a stockholder, officer, or employee of a landowner
or of an entity affiliated with a landowner. The district manager may hire or otherwise employ and terminate
the employment of such other persons, including, without limitation, professional, supervisory, and clerical
employees, as may be necessary and authorized by the board. The compensation and other conditions of
employment of the officers and employees of the district shall be as provided by the board.

(2) The board shall designate a person who is a resident of the state as treasurer of the district, who shall
have charge of the funds of the district. Such funds shall be disbursed only upon the order, or pursuant to the
resolution, of the board by warrant or check countersigned by the treasurer and by such other person as may
be authorized by the board. The board may give the treasurer such other or additional powers and duties as
the board may deem appropriate and may fix his or her compensation. The board may require the treasurer
to give a bond in such amount, on such terms, and with such sureties as may be deemed satisfactory to the
board to secure the performance by the treasurer of his or her powers and duties. The financial records of
the board shall be audited by an independent certified public accountant at least once a year.

(3) The board is authorized to select as a depository for its funds any qualified public depository as
defined in s. 280.02 which meets all the requirements of chapter 280 and has been designated by the Chief
Financial Officer as a qualified public depository, upon such terms and conditions as to the payment of
interest by such depository upon the funds so deposited as the board may deem just and reasonable.

History,—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 7, ch. 84-360; s. 32, ch. 86-191; s. 963, ch, 95-147; s. 170, ch. 2003-261; s. 4, ch. 2007-160.

190,008 Budget; reports and reviews.—

(1) The district shall provide financial reports in such form and such manner as prescribed pursuant to this
chapter and chapter 218.

(2)(a) On or before each June 15, the district manager shall prepare a proposed budget for the ensuing
fiscal year to be submitted to the board for board approval. The proposed budget shall include at the
direction of the board an estimate of all necessary expenditures of the district for the ensuing fiscal year and
an estimate of income to the district from the taxes, assessments, and other revenues provided in this act.
The board shall consider the proposed budget item by item and may either approve the budget as proposed
by the district manager or modify the same in part or in whole. The board shall indicate its approval of the
budget by resolution, which resolution shall provide for a hearing on the budget as approved. Notice of the
hearing on the budget shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the area of the district once
a week for 2 consecutive weeks, except that the first publication shall be not fewer than 15 days prior to the
date of the hearing. The notice shall further contain a designation of the day, time, and place of the public
hearing. At the time and place designated in the notice, the board shall hear all objections to the budget as
proposed and may make such changes as the board deems necessary. At the conclusion of the budget hearing,
the board shall, by resolution, adopt the budget as finally approved by the board. The budget shall be
adopted prior to October 1 of each year,

(b) At least 60 days prior to adoption, the district board shall submit to the local governing authorities
having jurisdiction over the area included in the district, for purposes of disclosure and information only, the
proposed annual budget for the ensuing fiscal year and any proposed long-term financial plan or program of
the district for future operations.

(c) The local governing authorities may review the proposed annual budget and any long-term financial
plan or program and may submit written comments to the board for its assistance and information in adopting
its annual budget and long-term financial plan or program.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 5, ch. 2007-160.

http://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Fiorida Statutes - The Florida Senate

190.00% Disclosure of public financing,—

(1) The district shall take affirmative steps to provide for the full disclosure of information relating to the
public financing and maintenance of improvements to real property undertaken by the district, Such
information shall be made avaitable to all existing residents, and to all prospective residents, of the district.
The district shall furnish each devetoper of a residential devetopment within the district with sufficient
copies of that information to provide each prospective initial purchaser of property in that development with
a copy, and any developer of a residential development within the district, when required by law to provide a
public offering statement, shall include a copy of such information relating to the public financing and
maintenance of improvements in the public offering statement. The district shall file the disclosure
documents required by this subsection and any amendments thereto in the property recards of each county in
which the district is located.

(2} The Department of Economic Opportunity shall keep a current list of districts and their disclosures
pursuant to this act and shatl make such studies and reports and take such actions as it deems necessary.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; 5. 17, ch. 81-167; s, 15, ch, 83-55; 5. 1, ch. 85-60; 5. 2, ch. 90-46; 5. 9, ch. 94-218; 5. 37, ch. 99-
378; 5. 6, ch. 2007-160; s. 10, ch. 2008-240; 5. 70, ch. 2011-142,

190.011 General powers,—The district shall have, and the body may exercise, the following powers:

(1) To sue and be sued in the name of the district; to adopt and use a seal and authorize the use of a
facsimile thereof; to acquire, by purchase, gift, devise, or otherwise, and to dispose of, reat and personal
property, or any estate therein; and to make and execute contracts and other instruments necessary or
convenient to the exercise of its powers.

(2} To apply for coverage of its employees under the state retirement system in the same manner as if
such employees were state employees, subject to necessary action by the district to pay employer
contributions into the state retirement fund,

{3} To contract for the services of consuttants to perform planning, engineering, legal, or other
appropriate services of a professional nature, Such contracts shall be subject to public bidding or competitive
negotiation requirements as set forth in s, 190.033.

(4} To borrow money and accept gifts; to apply for and use grants or loans of money or other property
from the United States, the state, a unit of local government, or any person for any district purposes and
enter into agreements required in connection therewith; and to hold, use, and dispose of such moneys or
property for any district purposes in accordance with the terms of the gift, grant, toan, or agreement relating
thereto,

(5) To adopt rules and orders pursuant to the provisions of chapter 120 prescribing the powers, duties,
and functions of the officers of the district; the conduct of the business of the district; the maintenance of
records; and the form of certificates evidencing tax liens and alt other documents and records of the district.
The board may also adopt administrative rules with respect te any of the projects of the district and define
the area to be included therein, The board may also adopt resolutions which may be necessary for the
conduct of district business.

{6) To maintain an office at such place or places as it may designate within a county in which the district
is located or within the boundaries of a development of regional impact or a Florida Quatity Development, or
a combination of a development of regional impact and a Florida Quality Development, which includes the
district, which office must be reasonably accessible to the landowners. Meetings pursuant to s. 189.015(3) of
a district within the boundaries of a development of regional impact or Florida Quality Development, or a
combination of a development of regional impact and a Florida Quality Development, may be held at such
office.

{73{@) To hold, control, and acquire by donation, purchase, or condemnation, or dispose of, any public
easements, dedications to public use, platted reservations for public purpeses, or any reservations for those
purposes authorized by this act and to make use of such easements, dedications, or reservations for any of
the purposes authorized by this act.

(b) When real property in the district is owned by a governmental entity and subject to a ground lease as
described in 5. 190.003(14}, to coltect ground rent from landowners pursuant to a contract with such
governmental entity and to contract with the county tax collectar for collection of such ground rent using the
pracedures authorized in s, 97,3631, other than the procedures contained in s, 197.3632.

(8) To lease as lessor or lessee to or from any person, firm, corporation, association, or bedy, public or
private, any projects of the type that the district is authorized to undertake and facitities or property of any
nature for the use of the district to carry out any of the purposes autherized by this act.

(9) To borrow money and issie bonds, certificates, warrants, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness as
hereinafter provided; to levy such tax and special assessments as may be authorized; and to charge, collect,

and enforce fees and other user charges.

htp:/fwww. flsenate. goviLaws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/AM[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

(10) To raise, by user charges or fees authorized by resolution of the board, amounts of money which are
necessary for the conduct of the district activities and services and to enforce their receipt and collection in
the manner prescribed by resolution not inconsistent with law.

(11) To exercise within the district, or beyond the district with prior approval by resolution of the
governing body of the county if the taking will occur in an unincorporated area or with prior approval by
resolution of the governing body of the municipality if the taking will occur within a municipality, the right
and power of eminent domain, pursuant to the provisions of chapters 73 and 74, over any property within the
state, except municipal, county, state, and federal property, for the uses and purposes of the district relating
solely to water, sewer, district roads, and water management, specifically including, without limitation, the
power for the taking of easements for the drainage of the land of one person over and through the land of
another.

(12) To cooperate with, or contract with, other governmental agencies as may be necessary, convenient,
incidental, or proper in connection with any of the powers, duties, or purposes authorized by this act.

(13) To assess and impose upon lands in the district ad valorem taxes as provided by this act.

(14) To determine, order, levy, impose, collect, and enforce special assessments pursuant to this act and
chapter 170. Such special assessments may, in the discretion of the district, be collected and enforced
pursuant to the provisions of ss. 197.3631, 197.3632, and 197.3635, chapter 170, or chapter 173.

(15) To exercise all of the powers necessary, convenient, incidental, or proper in connection with any of
the powers, duties, or purposes authorized by this act.

(16) To exercise such special powers as may be authorized by this act.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 8, ch. 84-360; s. 46, ch. 89-169; s. 4, ch. 91-308; s. 38, ch. 99-378; s. 1, ch. 2003-39; 5. 7, ch.
2007-160; s. 5, ch, 2009-142; s, 69, ch. 2014-22,

190.012 Special powers; public improvements and community facilities.—The district shall have, and
the board may exercise, subject to the regulatory jurisdiction and permitting authority of all applicable
governmental bodies, agencies, and special districts having authority with respect to any area included
therein, any or all of the following special powers relating to public improvements and community facilities
authorized by this act:

(1) To finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip,
operate, and maintain systems, facilities, and basic infrastructures for the following:

(a) Water management and control for the lands within the district and to connect some or any of such
facilities with roads and bridges.

(b) Water supply, sewer, and wastewater management, reclamation, and reuse or any combination
thereof, and to construct and operate connecting intercepting or outlet sewers and sewer mains and pipes
and water mains, conduits, or pipelines in, along, and under any street, alley, highway, or other public place
or ways, and to dispose of any effluent, residue, or other byproducts of such system or sewer system.

(c) Bridges or culverts that may be needed across any drain, ditch, canal, floodway, holding basin,
excavation, public highway, tract, grade, fill, or cut and roadways over levees and embankments, and to
construct any and all of such works and improvements across, through, or over any public right-of-way,
highway, grade, fill, or cut.

(d)1. District roads equal to or exceeding the applicable specifications of the county in which such district
roads are located; roads and improvements to existing public roads that are owned by or conveyed to the
local general-purpose government, the state, or the Federal Government; street lights; alleys; landscaping;
hardscaping; and the undergrounding of electric utility lines. Districts may request the underground
placement of utility lines by the local retail electric utility provider in accordance with the utility’s tariff on
file with the Public Service Commission and may finance the required contribution.

2. Buses, trolleys, transit shelters, ridesharing facilities and services, parking improvements, and related
signage.

(e) Investigation and remediation costs associated with the cleanup of actual or perceived environmental
contamination within the district under the supervision or direction of a competent governmental authority
unless the covered costs benefit any person who is a landowner within the district and who caused or
contributed to the contamination.

(f) Conservation areas, mitigation areas, and wildlife habitat, including the maintenance of any plant or
animal species, and any related interest in real or personal property.

(8) Any other project within or without the boundaries of a district when a local government issued a
development order pursuant to s. 380.06 approving or expressly requiring the construction or funding of the
project by the district, or when the project is the subject of an agreement between the district and a
governmental entity and is consistent with the local government comprehensive plan of the local government
within which the project is to be located.

http://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 150 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

(h) Any other project, facility, or service required by a development approval, interlocal agreement,
zoning condition, or permit issued by a governmental authority with jurisdiction in the district.

{2} After the tocal general-purpose government within the jurisdiction of which a power specified in this
subsection is to be exercised consents to the exercise of such power by the district, the district shall have the
power to plan, establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain
additional systems and facilities for:

{a) Parks and facilities for indoor and outdocr recreational, cultural, and educational uses.

{b) Fire prevention and control, including fire stations, water mains and plugs, fire trucks, and other
vehicles and equipment.

{c) School buildings and related structures and site improvements, which may be teased, sold, or donated
to the school district, for use in the educational systerm when authorized by the district school board.

() Security, including, but not limited to, guardhouses, fences and gates, electronic intrusion-detection
systems, and patrol cars, when authorized by proper governmental agencies; except that the district may not
exercise any potice power, but may contract with the appropriate local general-purpose government agencies
for an increased level of such services within the district boundaries. However, this paragraph does not
prohibit a district from contracting with a towing operator to remave a vehicle or vessel from a district-
owned facility or property if the district foltows the authorization and notice and procedural requirements in
5. 715.07 for an owner or lessee of private property. The district’s selection of a towing operator is not
subject to pubtic bidding if the towing operator is included in an approved list of towing operators maintained
by the local government that has jurisdiction over the district's facility or property.

{e) Control and elimination of mosquitoes and other arthropeds of public heatth importance.

{f} Waste coliection and disposat.

{3) To adopt and enforce appropriate rules following the procedures of chapter 120, in connection with
the provision of one or more services through its systems and facitities,

(4¥(a) To adopt rules necessary for the district to enforce certain deed restrictions pertaining to the use
and operation of real property within the district and outside the district pursuant to an interlocal agreement
under chapter 163 if within another district or, ¥ not within another district, with the consent of the county
or municipality in which the deed restriction enforcement is proposed te accur, For the purpose of this
subsection, the term “deed restrictions” means those covenants, conditions, restrictions, compliance
mechanisms, and enforcement remedies contained in any applicable declarations of covenants and
restrictions that govern the use and operation of reat property and, for which covenants, conditions, and

restrictions, there is no homeowners’ association or property owner's association having respective
enfarcement powers unless, with respect to a homeowners' association whose board is under member
control, the association and the district agree in writing to enforcement by the district. The district may
adopt by rute alt or certain portions of the deed restrictions that:

1. Relate to limitations, prohibitions, compliance mechanisms, or enforcement remedies that apply only
to external appearances or uses and are deemed by the district to be generally beneficiat for the district’s
landowners and for which enforcement by the district is appropriate, as determined by the district’s board of
supervisors; or

2. Are consistent with the requirements of a development order or regulatory agency permit,

{b) The board may vote to adopt such rules only when all of the following conditions exist:

1, The district was in existence on the effective date of this subsection, or is located within a
development that consists of multiple developments of regional impact and a Florida Quatity Development.

2. For residential districts, the majority of the board has been elected by qualified etecters pursuant to
the provisions of 5. 190.006.

3. For residential districts, less than 25 percent of residential units are in a homeowners’ association.

4. The declarant in any applicable declarations of covenants and restrictions has provided the board with
a written agreement that such rules may be adepted. A memorandum of the agreement shall be recorded in
the public records.

{c) Within 60 days after such rules take effect, the district shalt record a notice of rule adoption stating
generally what rules were adopted and where a copy of the rules may be obtained. Districts may impose fines
for violations of such rules and enforce such rules and fines in circuit court through injunctive relief.

{d} The owners of property located outside the boundary of the district shall elect an advisor to the
district board pursuant to paragraph (e}. The sole responsibitities of the district board advisor are to review
enforcement actions proposed by the district board against properties located outside the district and make
recommendations relating ta those proposed actions. Before the district board may enforce its rules against
any owner of property located outside the district, the district board shall request the district board advisor
to make a recommendation on the proposed enforcement action. The district board advisor must render a
recommendation within 30 days after receiving a request from the district board or is deemed to have no

http:/fwww. flsenate. gov/Laws/Staiutes/201 8/Chapter |907A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

objection to the district board’s proposed decision or action.

(e)1. Whenever an interlocal agreement is entered into pursuant to paragraph (a), a district board advisor
seat shall be created for one elected landowner whose property is within the jurisdiction of the governmental
entity entering into the interlocal agreement but not within the boundaries of the district. The district board
advisor shall be elected by landowners whose land is subject to enforcement by the district but whose land is
not within the boundaries of the district. The district board advisor shall be elected for a 2-year term. The
first election for a district board advisor shall be within 90 days after the effective date of the interlocal
agreement between the district and the government entity.

2. The election of the district board advisor shall occur at a meeting of eligible landowners. The district
shall publish notice of the meeting and election once a week for 2 consecutive weeks in a newspaper of
general circulation in the area of the parties to the interlocal agreement. The notice must include
instructions on how all landowners may participate in the election and how to obtain a proxy form. The last
day of publication may not be less than 14 days or more than 28 days before the date of the election. The
landowners, when assembled at the meeting, shall organize by electing a chair who shall conduct the
meeting. The chair may be any person present at the meeting. If the chair is a landowner or proxy holder of a
landowner, he or she may nominate candidates and make and second motions.

3. At the meeting, each landowner is entitled to cast one vote per acre of land owned by him or her and
located within the district for each person to be elected. A landowner may vote in person or by proxy in
writing. Each proxy must be signed by one of the legal owners of the property for which the vote is cast and
must contain the typed or printed name of the individual wha signed the proxy; the street address, legal
description of the property, or tax parcel identification number; and the number of authorized votes. If the
proxy authorizes more than one vote, each property must be listed and the number of acres of each property
must be included. The signature on a proxy need not be notarized. A fraction of an acre shall be treated as 1
acre, entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto. For purposes of determining voting interests,
platted lots shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre. The acreage of platted
lots may not be aggregated for purposes of determining the number of voting units held by a landowner or a
landowner’s proxy.

4, If a vacancy occurs in the district advisor seat, a special landowner election shall be held within 60
days after the vacancy using the notice, proxy, and acreage voting provisions of this subsection.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 51, ch. 83-217; 5. 9, ch. B4-360; s. 47, ch. 89-169; s. 8, ch. 93-51; s. 39, ch. 99-378; s. 15, ch.
2000-317; 5. 47, ch. 2000-364; s. 33, ch. 2004-345; s, 30, ch, 2004-353; s. 8, ch. 2007-160; s. 9, ch. 2009-142; s, 2, ch. 2016-94; s.
11, ch. 2018-158.

190.0125 Purchase, privatization, or sale of water, sewer, or wastewater reuse utility by district.—No
community development district may purchase or sell a water, sewer, or wastewater reuse utility that
provides service to the public for compensation, or enter into a wastewater facility privatization contract for
a wastewater facility, until the governing body of the community development district has held a public
hearing on the purchase, sale, or wastewater facility privatization contract and made a determination that
the purchase, sale, or wastewater facility privatization contract is in the public interest. In determining if the
purchase, sale, or wastewater facility privatization contract is in the public interest, the community
development district shall consider, at a minimum, the following:

(1) The most recent available income and expense statement for the utility;

(2) The most recent available balance sheet for the utility, listing assets and liabilities and clearly
showing the amount of contributions-in-aid-of-construction and the accumulated depreciation thereon;

(3) A statement of the existing rate base of the utility for regulatory purposes;

(4) The physical condition of the utility facilities being purchased, sold, or subject to a wastewater
facility privatization contract;

(5) The reasonableness of the purchase, sales, or wastewater facility privatization contract price and
terms;

(6) The impacts of the purchase, sale, or wastewater facility privatization contract on utility customers,
both positive and negative;

(7)(a) Any additional investment required and the ability and willingness of the purchaser or the private
firm under a wastewater facility privatization contract to make that investment, whether the purchaser is the
community development district or the entity purchasing the utility from the community development
district;

{b) In the case of a wastewater facility privatization contract, the terms and conditions on which the
private firm will provide capital investment and financing or a combination thereof for contemplated capital
replacements, additions, expansions, and repairs. The community development district shall give significant
weight to this criteria.

http://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

(8) The alternatives to the purchase, sale, or wastewater facitity privatization contract and the potential
impact on utility customers if the purchase, sale, or wastewater facility privatization contract is not made;

(M{a) The ability of the purchaser or the private firm under a wastewater facitity privatization contract
to provide and maintain high-quality and cost-effective utitity service, whether the purchaser is the
comemunity development district or the entity purchasing the utility from the community development
district;

(b} Inthe case of a wastewater facility privatization contract, the community development district shalt
give significant weight to the technical expertise and experience of the private firm in carrying out the
obtigations specified in the wastewater facility privatization contract; and

{10) All moneys paid by a private firm to a community development district pursuant to a wastewater
facility privatization contract shall be used for the purpose of reducing or offsetting property taxes,
wastewater service rates, or debt reduction or making infrastructure improvements or capital asset
expenditures or other public purpose; provided, however, nothing herein shall preclude the community
development district from using all or part of the moneys for the purpose of the community development
district’s qualification for relief from the repayment of federal grant awards associated with the wastewater
system as may be required by federal law or regulation.

The community development district shall prepare a statement showing that the purchase, sale, or
wastewater facility privatization contract is in the public interest, including a summary of the purchaser’s or
private firm’s experience in water, sewer, or wastewater reuse utility operation and a showing of financial
ability to provide the service, whether the purchaser or private firm is the community development district or
the entity purchasing the utitity from the community development district.

History,—s. 3, ch, 84-84; 5. 9, ch. 93-51; s. 9, ¢h, 96-202,

190.013 Water management and controf plan.—In the event that the board assumes the responsibility
for providing water management and control for the district as provided in 5. 190.012(1){a) which is to be
financed by benefit special assessments, the board shall proceed to adopt water management and control
plans, assess for benefits, and apportion and levy special assessments, as follows:

(1) The board shall cause to be made by the district’s engineer, or such other engineer or engineers as
the board may employ for that purpose, complete and comprehensive water management and controt ptans
for the lands located within the district that will be improved in any part or in whole by any system of
facilities that may be outlined and adopted, and the engineer shall make a report in writing to the board with
maps and profiles of said surveys and an estimate of the cost of carrying out and completing the plans.

(2} Upon the completion of such plans, the board shall hold a hearing thereon to hear objections thereto,
shall give notice of the time and place fixed for such hearing by publication once each week for 2 consecutive
weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the general area of the district, and shall permit the
inspection of the plan at the office of the district by all persons interested. All objections to the ptan shall be
filed at or before the time fixed in the notice for the hearing and shall be in writing.

(3) After the hearing, the board shall consider the proposed plan and any cbjections thereto and may
modify, reject, or adopt the plan or continue the hearing to a day certain for further consideration of the
proposed plan or modifications thereof.

(4} When the board approves a plan, a resolution shall be adopted and a certified copy thereof shall be
filed in the office of the secretary and incorporated by him ar her into the records of the district,

{5} The water management and control plan may be altered in detail from time to time untit the
appraisat record herein provided is filed, but not in such manner as to affect raterially the conditions of its
adoption. After the appraisal record has been filed, no alteration of the plan shall be made, except as
provided by this act.

(6) Within 20 days after the final adoption of the plan by the board, the board shall proceed pursuant to
s, 298,301,

History.—s. 2, ch. B0-407; s. 5, ch. 91-308; s. 964, ch. 95-147; 5, 26, ch, 97-40.

190.014 Issuance of bond anticipation notes.—n addition to the other powers provided for in this act,
and not in limitation thereof, the district shall have the power, at any time, and from time to time after the
issuance of any bonds of the district shall have been authorized, to borrow money for the purposes for which
such bonds are to be issued in anticipation of the receipt of the proceeds of the sale of such bonds and to
issue bond anticipation notes in a principal sum not in excess of the authorized maximum amount of such
hond #ssue. Such notes shalt be in such denomination or denominations, bear interest at such rate as the
board may determine in compliance with s. 215.84, mature at such time or times not later than 5 years from
the date of issuance, and be in such form and executed in such manner as the board shall prescribe. Such
nates may be sold at either pubtic or private sale or, if such notes shalt be renewal notes, may be exchanged

http:/Awww. fisenate gov/Laws/Statutes/201 8/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

for notes then ocutstanding on such terms as the board shalk determine. Such notes shalt be paid from the
preceeds of such bonds when issued. The board may, in its discretion, in lieu of retiring the notes by means
of bonds, retire them by means of current revenues or from any taxes or assessments levied for the payment
of such bonds; but in such event a like amount of the bonds authorized shall not be issued. Non-ad valorem
assessments levied to pay interest on bond anticipation notes shall not constitute an installment of
assessments under s. 190.022.

Histary.—s, 2, ch, 80-407; s. 9, ch. 83-215; s, 9, ch, 2007-160.

190.015 Short-term borrowing.—The district at any time may obtain lcans, in such amount and en such
terms and conditions as the board may approve, for the purpose of paying any of the expenses of the district
or any costs incurred or that may be incurred in connection with any of the projects of the district, which
loans shall bear such interest as the board may determine in compliance with 5. 215.84, and may be payable
from and secured by a pledge of such funds, revenues, taxes, and assessments as the hoard may determine,
subject, however, to the provisions contained in any proceeding under which bonds were theretofore issued
and are then outstanding. For the purpose of defraying such costs and expenses, the district may issue
negotiable notes, warrants, or other evidences of debt to be payable at such times, to bear such interest as
the board may determine in comptiance with s. 215,84, and to be sold or discounted at such price or prices
not less than 95 percent of par value and on such terms as the board may deem advisable. The board shall
have the right to provide for the payment thereof by pledging the whole or any part of the funds, revenues,
taxes, and assessments of the district. The approval of the electors residing in the district shall not be
necessary except when required by the State Constitution.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 80, ch. 81-259; s. 10, ch. 83-215,

190.016 Bonds.--

{1) SALE OF BONDS.—Bonds may be sold in blocks or installments at different times, or an entire issue or
series may be sold at one time. Bonds may be sold at public or private sale after such advertisement, if any,
as the board may deem advisable but not in any event at less than 90 percent of the par value thereof,
together with accrued interest thereon, Bonds may be sold or exchanged for refunding bonds. Special
assessment and revenue bonds may be delivered by the district as payment of the purchase price of any
project or part thereof, or a combination of projects or parts thereof, or as the purchase price or exchange
for any property, real, personal, or mixed, including franchises or services rendered by any contractor,
engineer, or other person, all at one time or in blocks from time to time, in such manner and upon such terms
as the board in its discretion shall determine. The price or prices for any bonds sold, exchanged, or delivered
may be:

(a) The money paid for the bonds;

(b} The principal amount, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption or exchange, or outstanding
obligations exchanged for refunding bonds; and

(c} Inthe case of special assessment or revenue bonds, the amount of any indebtedness to contractors or
other persons paid with such bonds, or the fair value of any properties exchanged for the bonds, as
determined by the board.

{2) AUTHORIZATION AND FORM OF BONDS. —Any general obligation bonds, benefit bonds, or revenue bonds
may be authorized by resofution or resolutions of the board which shatll be adopted by a majority of all the
members thereof then in office. Such resolution or resolutions may be adopted at the same meeting at which
they are introduced and need not be published or posted. The board may, by resolution, authorize the
issuance of bonds and fix the aggregate amount of bonds to be issued; the purpose or purposes for which the
moneys derived therefrom shalt be expended, including, but not limited to, payment of costs as defined in s.
190.003(8}; the rate or rates of interest, in compliance with 5. 215.84; the denomination of the bonds;
whether or not the bonds are to be issued in one or more series; the date or dates of maturity, which shall
not exceed 40 years from their respective dates of issuance; the medium of payment; the place or places
within or without the state where payment shall be made; registration privileges; redemption terms and
privileges, whether with or without premium; the manner of execution; the farm of the bonds, including any
interest coupons to be attached thereto; the manner of execution of bonds and coupons; and any and all
other terms, covenants, and conditions thereof and the establishment of revenue or other funds. Such
authorizing resolution or resotutions may further provide for the contracts authorized by s. 159.825(1)(f) and
{2) regardless of the tax treatment of such bonds being authorized, subject to the finding by the board of a
net saving to the district resulting by reason thereof. Such authorizing resolution may further provide that
such bonds may be executed in accordance with the Registered Public Obligations Act, except that bonds not
issued in registered form shall be valid if manually countersigned by an officer designated by appropriate
resolution of the board. The seal of the district may be affixed, lithographed, engraved, or otherwise
reproduced in facsimile on such bonds. In case any officer whose signature shatl appear on any bonds or

http:#wnv. flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/20 1 8/Chapter 1 90/AI[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM)]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Flosida Statutes - The Florida Senate

coupons shalt cease to be such officer before the delivery of such bonds, such signature or facsimile shatl
nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if he or she had remained in office untit such
detivery.

(3) INTERIM CERTIFICATES; REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATES.—Pending the preparation of definitive bonds,
the board may issue interim certificates or receipts or temporary bonds, in such form and with such
provisions as the board may determine, exchangeable for definitive bonds when such bonds have been
executed and are available for delivery. The board may also provide for the replacement of any bonds which
become mutilated, lost, or destroyed.

(4) NEGOTIABILITY OF BONDS.—Any bond issued under this act or any temporary bond, in the absence of
an express recitat on the face thereof that it is nonnegotiable, shall be fully negotiable and shall be and
canstitute a negotiable instrument within the meaning and for all purposes of the law merchant and the laws
of the state.

(5) DEFEASANCE.—The board may make such provision with respect to the defeasance of the right, title,
and interest of the holders of any of the bonds and obligations of the district in any revenues, funds, or other
properties by which such bonds are secured as the board deems appropriate and, without timitation on the
foregoing, may provide that when such bonds or obtigations become due and payable or shalt have been
catled for redemption and the whole amount of the principal and interest and premium, if any, due and
payable upon the bonds or obligations then outstanding shall be held in trust for such purpose and provision
shat! also be made for paying al other sums payabie in connection with such bonds or cther obligations, then
and in such event the right, title, and interest of the holders of the bonds in any revenues, funds, or other
properties by which such bends are secured shall thereupon cease, terminate, and become void; and the
board may apply any surplus in any sinking fund established in connection with such bonds or obligations and
alt balances remaining in all other funds or accounts other than money held for the redemption or payment of
the bonds or other obligations to any lawful purpose of the district as the board shail determine,

{6) ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL BONDS. —If the proceeds of any bonds are less than the cost of completing
the project in connection with which such bonds were issued, the board may authorize the issuance of
additional bonds, upon such terms and conditions as the board may provide in the resolution authorizing the
issuance thereof, but only in compliance with the resolution or other proceedings authorizing the issuance of
the original bonds.

{7) REFUNDING BONDS.—The district shall have the power to issue bonds to provide for the retirement or
refunding of any bonds or obligations of the district that at the time of such issuance are or subsequently
thereto become due and payable, or that at the time of issuance have been called or are or will be subject to
catl for redemption within 10 years thereafter, or the swrrender of which can be procured from the holders
thereof at prices satisfactory to the board. Refunding bonds may be issued at any time when in the judgment
of the board such issuance will be advantageous to the district. No approval of the qualified electors residing
in the district shall be required for the issuance of refunding bonds except in cases in which such approvat is
required by the State Constitution. The board may by resolution confer upon the holders of such refunding
bonds all rights, powers, and remedies to which the holders would be entitled if they continued to be the
awners and had possession of the bonds for the refinancing of which such refunding bonds are issued,
including, but not limited to, the preservation of the lien of such bonds on the revenues of any project or on
pledged funds, without extinguishment, impairment, or diminution thereof. The provisions of this act
pertaining to bonds of the district shall, unless the context otherwise requires, govern the issuance of
refunding bonds, the form and other details thereof, the rights of the holders thereof, and the duties of the
board with respect to them.

(8) REVEMUE BONDS.—

(a) The district shail have the power to issue revenue bonds from time to time without timitation as to
amount. Such revenue bands may be secured by, or payable from, the gross or net pledge of the revenues to
be derived from any project or combination of projects; from the rates, fees, or other charges to be
collected from the users of any project or projects; fram any revenue-producing undertaking or activity of
the district; from special assessments; or from any other source or pleddged security, Such bonds shall not
constitute an indebtedness of the district, and the approval of the qualified electors shall not be required
uniess such bonds are additionally secured by the full faith and credit and taxing power of the district.

{b} Any two or more projects may be combined and consolidated into a single project and may hereafter
be operated and maintained as a single project. The revenue bonds authorized herein may be issued to
finance any one or more of such projects, regardless of whether or not such projects have been combined and
consolidated into a single project, if the board deems it advisable, the proceedings authorizing such revenue
bonds may provide that the district may thereafter combine the projects then being financed or theretofore
financed with other projects to be subsequently financed by the district and that revenue bonds to be
thereafter issued by the district shall be on parity with the revenue bonds then being issued, all on such

http://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/20 | 8/Chapter1907A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

terms, conditions, and limitations as shall have been provided in the proceeding which authorized the original
honds,

(9) GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS.—

(&) The district shatl have the power fram time to time to issue general obligation bonds to finance or
refinance capital projects or to refund outstanding bonds in an aggregate principal amount of bonds
outstanding at any one time not in excess of 35 percent of the assessed value of the taxable property within
the district as shown on the pertinent tax records at the time of the authorization of the general obligation
bonds for which the full faith and credit of the district is pledged. Except for refunding bonds, no general
ohligation bonds shalt be issued uniess the bonds are issued to finance or refinance a capital project and the
issuance has been approved at an election held in accordance with the requirements for such election as
prescribed by the State Constitution. Such elections shall be called to be held in the district by the board of
county commissioners of the county upon the request of the board of the district, The expenses of calling and
holding an election shall be at the expense of the district, and the district shall reimburse the county for any
expenses incurred in calting or hotding such election.

(b} The district may pledge its full faith and credit for the payment of the principal and interest on such
general obligation bonds and for any reserve funds provided therefor and may unconditionally and irrevocably
pledge itself to levy ad valorem taxes on atl taxable property in the district, to the extent necessary for the
payment therecf, without limitations as to rate or amount.

(¢} If the board determines to issue general obligation bonds for more than one capital project, the
approval of the issuance of the bonds for each and all such projects may be submitted to the electors on one
and the same baltot. The failure of the electors to approve the issuance of bonds for any one or mare capital
projects shall not defeat the approval of bonds for any capitat project which has been approved by the
electors.

{d) Inarriving at the amount of general obligation bonds permitted to be outstanding at any one time
pursuant to paragraph {(a}, there shall not be included any general obligation bonds which are additionally
secured by the pledge of:

1. Special assessments levied in an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the general
obligation bonds so additionally secured, which assessments have been equalized and confirmed by resokution
or ordinance of the board pursuant to s. 170.08.

2, Water revenues, sewer revenues, or water and sewer revenues of the district ta be derived from user
fees in an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the general obligation bonds so additionally
secured,

3. Any combination of assessments and revenues described in subparagraphs 1. and 2.

(10} BONDS AS LEGAL INVESTMENT OR SECURITY.—

(a) Notwithstanding any provisions of any other law to the contrary, all bonds issued under the provisicns
of this act shall constitute legal investments for savings banks, banks, trust companies, insurance companies,
executors, administrators, trustees, guardians, and other fiduciaries and for any board, body, agency,
instrumentality, county, municipality, or other political subdivision of the state and shall be and constitute
security which may be deposited by banks or trust companies as security for deposits of state, county,
municipal, or other public funds or by insurance companies as required or voluntary statutory deposits.

{b) Any bonds issued by the district shall be incontestable in the hands of bona fide purchasers or holders
for vatue and shall not be invalid because of any irregularity or defect in the proceedings for the issue and
sale thereof.

(11) COVEMNANTS.—Any resolution authorizing the issuance of bonds may contain such covenants as the
board may deem advisable, and all such covenants shall constitute valid and legally binding and enforceable
contracts between the district and the bondholders, regardiess of the time of issuance thereof. Such
covenants may include, without limitation, covenants concerning the disposition of the bond proceeds; the
use and disposition of project revenues; the pledging of revenues, taxes, and assessments; the obligations of
the district with respect to the operation of the project and the maintenance of adequate project revenues;
the issuance of additional bonds; the appointment, powers, and duties of trustees and receivers; the
acquisition of outstanding bonds and obligations; restrictions on the establishing of competing projects or
facilities; restrictions on the sale or disposal of the assets and property of the district; the priority of
assessment liens; the priority of claims by bondholders on the taxing power of the district; the maintenance
of deposits to assure the payment of revenues by users of district facilities and services; the discontinuance
of district services by reason of delinquent payments; acceleration upon default; the execution of necessary
instruments; the procedure for amending or abrogating covenants with the bondholders; and such other
covenants as may be deemed necessary or desirable for the security of the bondholders.

{12) VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS.~The power of the district to issue bonds under the provisions of this act
may be determined, and any of the bonds of the district maturing over a period of more than 5 years shall be

hitp:/fwww fisenate.gov/Laws/Stautes/2018/Chapter190/A1I[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM)]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

validated and confirmed, by court decree, under the provisions of chapter 75 and laws amendatory thereof or
supptementary thereto.

(13}  ACT FURNISHES FULL AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE OF BONDS.—This act constitutes full and complete
autharity for the issuance of bonds and the exercise of the powers of the district provided herein. No
procedures or praoceedings, publications, notices, consents, approvals, orders, acts, or things by the board, or
any board, officers, commission, department, agency, or instrumentality of the district, other than those
required by this act, shall be required to perform anything under this act, except that the issuance or sale of
bonds pursuant to the provisions of this act shall comply with the general law requirements applicable to the
issuance or sale of bonds by the district. Nothing in this act shall be construed to authorize the district to
utilize bond proceeds to fund the ongoing operations of the district.

{14} PLEDGE BY THE STATE TO THE BONDHQLDERS OF THE DISTRICT.—The state pledges to the holders of
any bonds issued under this act that it will not timit or alter the rights of the district to own, acquire,
construct, reconstruct, imprave, maintain, operate, or furnish the projects or to levy and collect the taxes,
assessments, rentals, rates, fees, and other charges provided for herein and to fulfill the terms of any
agreement made with the holders of such bonds or other obligations and that it will not in any way impair the
rights or remedies of such holders.

{15} DEFAULT.—A default on the bonds or abligations of a district shall not constitute a debt or cbligation
of a local general-purpose government or the state.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 11, ch. 83-215; 5. 10, ch. 84-360; s. 24, ch. 85-80; s. 6, ch. 91-308; 5. 965, ch. 95-147; 5. 8, ch.
98-47; s, 6, ch, 2009-142.

190.017 Trust agreements.—Any issue of bonds shall be secured by a trust agreement by and between
the district and a corporate trustee ar trustees, which may be any trust company or bank having the powers
of a trust company within or without the state. The resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds or such
trust agreement may pledge the revenues to be received from any projects of the district and may centain
such provisions for protecting and enforcing the rights and remedies of the bondholders as the board may
approve, inctuding, without limitation, covenants setting forth the duties of the district in relation to: the
acquisition, construction, reconstruction, improvement, maintenance, repair, operation, and insurance of any
projects; the fixing and revising of the rates, fees, and charges; and the custody, safeguarding, and
application of all moneys and for the employment of consulting engineers in connection with such acquisition,
construction, reconstruction, improvement, maintenance, repair, or operation. It shall be lawful for any bank
or trust company within or without the state which may act as a depository of the proceeds of bonds or of
revenues ta furnish such indemnifying bonds or to pledge such securities as may be required by the district.
Such resolution or trust agreement may set forth the rights and remedies of the bondholders and of the
trustee, if any, and may restrict the individual right of action by bondhotders. The hoard may provide for the
payment of proceeds of the sale of the bonds and the revenues of any project to such officer, board, or
depository as it may designate for the custody thereof and may provide for the method of dishursement
thereof with such safeguards and restrictions as it may determine. All expenses incurred in carrying out the
provisions of such resolution or trust agreement may be treated as part of the cost of operation of the project
to which such trust agreement pertains.

History,—s. 2, ch. 83-407.

190.021 Taxes; non-ad valorem assessments.—

(1) AD YALOREM TAXES.—An elected board shall have the power to levy and assess an ad valorem tax on
all the taxable property in the district to construct, operate, and maintain assessable improvements; to pay
the principal of, and interest on, any general obligation bonds of the district; and to provide for any sinking
or other funds established in connection with any such bonds. An ad valorem tax levied by the board for
operating purposes, exciusive of debt service on bonds, shall not exceed 3 mitls, except that a district
authorized by a local general-purpose government to exercise one or more powers specified ins. 190.012(2)
may levy an additional 2 mills for operating purposes, exclusive of debt service on bonds. The ad valorem tax
provided for herein shall be in addition to county and all other ad valorem taxes provided for by law. Such tax
shall be assessed, levied, and collected in the same manner and same time as county taxes. The levy of ad
valorem taxes shall be approved by referendum when required by the State Constitution.

(2} BENEFIT SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.—The board shall annually determine, order, and levy the annual
installment of the total benefit special assessments for bonds issued and related expenses to finance district
facilities and projects which are levied under this act. These assessments may be due and collected during
each year that county taxes are due and collected, in which case such annual instaltment and levy shatl be
evidenced to and certified to the property appraiser by the board not tater than August 31 of each year, and
such assessment shall be entered by the property appraiser on the county tax rolts, and shatl be collected and
enforced by the tax collector in the same manner and at the same time as county taxes, and the proceeds

http://wwi. flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/20 § 8/Chapter 190/A3[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

thereof shall be paid to the district. However, this subsection shalt not prohibit the district in its discretion
from using the method prescribed in either s. 197.363 or s. 197.3632 for collecting and enforcing these
assessrents. Notice of the proposed amount of the assessment pursuant to s. 200,069 that includes the date
and time of the hearing may be used in lieu of the notice provisions of s. 197.3632(4)(b}. These benefit
special assessments shall be a lien on the property against which assessed until paid and shall be enforceable
in like manner as county taxes. The amount of the assessment for the exercise of the district’s powers under
ss. 190,011 and 190.012 shall be determined by the board based upon a report of the district’s engineer and
assessed by the board upon such tands, which may be part or all of the lands within the district benefited by
the improvement, apportioned between benefited (ands in proportion to the benefits received by each tract
of land,

{3) MAINTENANCE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.—To maintain and preserve the facilities and projects of the
district, the board may levy a maintenance special assessment. This assessment may be evidenced to and
certified to the property appraiser by the beard of supervisors not later than August 31 of each year and shalt
be entered by the property appraiser on the county tax rolls and shall be collected and enforced by the tax
collector in the same manner and at the same time as county taxes, and the proceeds therefrom shall be paid
to the district. However, this subsection shall not prohibit the district in its discretion from using the method
prescribed in either s. 197.363 or s. 197.3632 for coltecting and enforcing these assessments. Notice of the
proposed amount of the assessment pursuant to s. 200.069 that includes the date and time of the hearing
may be used in lieu of the notice provisions of s. 197,3632({4){b}. These maintenance special assessments shall
be a lien on the property against which assessed untit paid and shall be enforceable in like manner as county
taxes. The amount of the maintenance special assessment for the exercise of the district’s powers under ss.
190.011 and 190.012 shall be determined by the board based upon a report of the district’s engineer and
assessed by the board upon such lands, which may be all of the lands within the district benefited by the
maintenance thereof, apportioned between the benefited tands in proportion to the benefits received by
each tract of land.

{4) ENFORCEMENT OF TAXES.—The collection and enforcement of all taxes levied by the district shall be
at the same time and in like manner as county taxes, and the provisions of the Florida Statutes relating to the
sale of lands for unpaid and delinquent county taxes; the issuance, sale, and detivery of tax certificates for
such unpaid and delinquent county taxes; the redemption thereof; the issuance to individuals of tax deeds
based thereon; and ali other procedures in connection therewith shalt be applicabte to the district to the
same extent as if such statutory provisions were expressly set forth herein. All taxes shall be subject to the
same discounts as county taxes.

{5) WHEN UNPAID TAX 1S DELINQUENT; PENALTY.—All taxes provided for in this act shalt become
delinquent and bear penalties on the amount of such taxes in the same manner as county taxes.

(6) TAX EXEMPTION. Al bonds issued hereunder and interest paid thereon and all fees, charges, and
other revenues derived by the district from the projects provided by this act are exempt from all taxes by the
state or by any political subdivision, agency, or instrumentality thereof; however, any interest, income, or
profits on debt obligations issued hereunder are not exempt from the tax imposed by chapter 220. Further,
districts are not exempt from the provisions of chapter 212,

(7) TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS.—Nothing in this act shall be deemed to affect any benefit tax,
maintenance tax, non-ad valorem assessment, ad valorem tax, or special assessment imposed by a community
development district as of June 21, 1991. Nothing in this act shall be construed to affect any tax or
assessment pledged to secure or authorized pursuant te a trust indenture under this chapter, and the district
impasing such tax or assessment is hereby authorized to impose such tax or assessment under the terms
reguired by the trust indenture. The terms benefit taxes or maintenance taxes used in this chapter prior to
June M, 1991, are redesignated as benefit or maintenance special assessments pursuant to this act, and such
terms may be used interchangeably under the terms of an existing trust indenture.

(8) STATUS OF ASSESSMENTS.—Benefit special assessments, maintenance speciat assessments, and special
assessments are non-ad valorem assessments as defined by s, 197.3632.

{9} ASSESSMENTS CONSTITUTE LIENS; COLLECTION.—Benefit special assessments and maintenance special
assessments authorized by this section, and special assessments authorized by s. 190.022 and chapter 170,
shall constitute a lien on the property against which assessed from the date of imposition thereof until paid,
coequal with the lien of state, county, municipal, and schoot board taxes. These non-ad valorem assessments
may be collected, at the district’s discretion, by the tax collector pursuant to the provisions of 5. 197.363 or
s, 197.3632, or in accordance with other collection measures provided by law.

(10)  LAND OWNED BY GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY, —Except as otherwise provided by law, no levy of ad
valorem taxes or non-ad valorem assessments under this chapter, or chapter 170, chapter 197, or otherwise,
by a board of a district on property of a governmental entity that is subject to a ground lease as described in
s. 190.003(14), shalt constitute a lien or encumbrance an the underlying fee interest of such governmental

hitp://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter i 90/A1[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM)]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

entity.
History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s, 11, ch, 84-360; <. 48, ch. 89-169; s. 7, ch. 91-308; s. 40, ch, 99-378; s. 33, ch. 2000-364; s. 10,
ch. 2047-160; 5. 7, ch. 2009-142.

190.022 Special assessments,—

(1} The board may levy speciat assessments for the construction, reconstruction, acquisition, or
maintenance of district facilities authorized under this chapter using the procedures for levy and collection
provided in chapter 170 or chapter 197.

(2} Notwithstanding the provisions of 5. 170.09, district assessments may be made payable in ne more
than 30 yearly instatiments.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; 5. 12, ch. 84-360; 5. 8, ch. 91-308; 5. 41, ch, $%-378.

190,023 Issuance of certificates of indebtedness based on assessments for assessable improvements;
assessment. bonds.—

{t} The board may, after any assessments for assessable improvements are made, determined, and
confirmed as provided in s. 190.022, issue certificates of indebtedness for the amount so assessed against the
abutting property or property otherwise benefited, as the case may be; and separate certificates shall be
issued against each part or parcel of tand or property assessed, which certificates shall state the generat
nature of the improvement for which the assessment is made. The certificates shall be payable in annual
installments in accordance with the installments of the special assessment for which they are issued. The
beard may determine the interest to be borne by such certificates, in compliance with s, 215.84, and may sell
such certificates at either private or public sale and determine the form, manner of execution, and other
details of such certificates. The certificates shall recite that they are payable only from the special
assessments levied and collected from the part or parcel of land or property against which they are issued.
The proceeds of such certificates may be pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on any revenue
bonds or general obligation bonds issued to finance in whote or in part such assessable improvement, or, if
not so pledged, may be used to pay the cost or part of the cost of such assessable improvements.

(2) The district may also issue assessment bonds or other ebligations payabte from a special fund into
which such certificates of indebtedness referred to in the preceding subsection may be deposited; or, if such
certificates of indebtedness have not been issued, the district may assign to such special fund for the benefit
of the holders of such assessment honds or other obligations, or to a trustee for such bondholders, the
assessment liens provided for in this act unless such certificates of indebtedness or assessment Hens have
been theretofare ptedged for any bonds or other obligations authorized hereunder. In the event of the
creation of such special fund and the issuance of such assessment bonds or other obligations, the proceeds of
such certificates of indebtedness or assessment liens deposited therein shall be used only for the payment of
the assessment bonds or other obligations issued as provided in this section. The district is authorized to
covenant with the holders of such assessment bonds or other obligations that it will diligently and faithfully
enforce and collect all the special assessments and interest and penaities thereon for which such certificates

of indebtedness or assessment liens have been deposited in or assigned to such fund; to foreclose such
assessment liens so assigned to such special fund or represented by the certificates of indebtedness deposited
in the special fund, after such assessment liens have become delinquent, and deposit the proceeds derived
from such foreclosure, including interest and penalties, in such special fund; and to make any other
covenants deemed necessary or advisable in order to property secure the holders of such assessment bonds or
other abligations.

(3) The assessment bonds or other abtigations issued pursuant to this section shalt have such dates of
issue and maturity as shalt be deemed advisable by the board; however, the maturities of such assessment
bonds or other obligations shall not be mare than 2 years after the due date of the last installment which will
be payable on any of the special assessments for which such assessment liens, or the certificates of
indebtedness representing such assessment liens, are assigned to or deposited in such special fund.

{4) Such assessment bonds or other obligations issued under this section shalk bear such interest as the
board may determine, not to exceed a rate which is in comptiance with s. 215.84, and shall be executed,
shall have such provisions for redernption prior to maturity, shall be sold in the manner and be subject to all
of the appticable provisions contained in this act for revenue bonds, except as the same may be inconsistent
with the provisions of this section.

{5) All assessment honds or other obligations issued under the provisions of this act, except certificates of
indebtedness issued against separate lots or parcels of land or property as provided in this section, shall be
and constitute and shall have ali the quatities and incidents of negotiable instruments under the law
merchant and the laws of the state.

History.—s. 2, ch, 80-407; 5. 81, ch. 81-259; 5. 12, ch. 83-2145.

http://wwsw. flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/20 1 8/Chapter 190/ALI[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Flotida Senate

190.024 Tax Hens.—All taxes of the district provided for in this act, together with atl penalties for
default in the payment of the same and atl costs in collecting the same, including a reasonable attorney’s fee
fixed by the court and taxed as a cost in the action brought to enforce payment, shall, from January 1 for
each year the property is liable to assessment and until paid, constitute a lien of equat dignity with the tiens
for state and county taxes and other taxes of equal dignity with state and county taxes upon all the tands
against which such taxes shall be tevied. A sale of any of the real property within the district for state and
county or other taxes shall not operate to relieve or release the property so sold from the lien for subsequent
district taxes or installments of district taxes, which lien may be enforced against such property as though no
such sale thereof had been made. The provisions of ss. 194.171, 197.122, 197.333, and 197.432 shall be
applicable to district taxes with the same force and effect as if such provisions were expressly set forth in
this act.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; 5. 33, ch. 82-226; 5. 202, ch. 853-342; 5. 27, ch, 95-280,

190.025 Payment of taxes and redemption of tax liens by the district; sharing in proceeds of tax
sale,—

(1) The district has the right to:

(a) Pay any delinquent state, county, districk, municipal, or other tax or assessment upon lands located
wholly or partially within the boundaries of the district; and

{b} To redeem or purchase any tax sates certificates issued or sold on account of any state, county,
district, municipal, or other taxes or assessments upon lands tocated wholly or partially within the boundaries
of the district.

{2) Delinquent taxes paid, or tax sales certificates redeemed or purchased, by the district, together with
all penalties for the default in payment of the same and all costs in collecting the same and a reasonable
attorney’s fee, shall constitute a tien in favor of the district of equat dignity with the liens of state and
county taxes and other taxes of equal dignity with state and county taxes upon all the real property against
which the taxes were levied. The lien of the district may be foreclosed in the manner provided in this act.

{3) In any sale of land pursuant to s. 197.542 and amendments thereto, the district may certify to the
clerk of the circuit court of the county holding such sale the amount of taxes due to the district upon the
tands sought to be sold; and the district shalt share in the disbursement of the sales proceeds in accordance
with the provisions of this act and under the laws of the state,

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 203, ch. 85-342.

190,026 Foreclosure of liens.—Any lien in favor of the district arising under this act may be foreclosed
hy the district by foreclosure proceedings in the name of the district in a court of competent jurisdiction as
provided by general law in ltke manner as is provided in chapter 170 or chapter 173 and amendments thereto;
the provisions of those chapters shall be applicable to such proceedings with the same force and effect as if
those provisions were expressly sat forth in this act. Any act required or autharized to be done by or on
behalf of a municipality in foreclosure preceedings under chapter 170 or chapter 173 may be performed by
such officer or agent of the district as the board of supervisors may designate. Such foreclosure proceedings
may be brought at any time after the expiration of 1 year from the date any tax, or instaliment thereof,
becomes delinquent; however no tien shall be foreclosed against any political subdivision or agency of the
state. Other legal remedies shall remain available.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s, 11, ch, 2007-160.

190.031 Mandatory use of certain district facilities and services.—To the full extent permitted by law,
the district shall require all lands, buildings, premises, persons, firms, and corporations within the district to
use the water management and control facilities and water and sewer facilities of the district.

History,—s, 2, ch, 80-407,

190.033 Bids required.—

(1} Mo contract shall be let by the board for any goods, supplies, or materials to be purchased when the
amount thereof to be paid by the district shall exceed the amount provided in s. 287.017 for category four,
unless notice of bids or other competitive solicitation, including requests for proposals or qualifications, is
advertised once in a newspaper in generat circulation in the county and in the district. Any board seeking to
construct or improve a public building, structure, or other public werks shall comply with the bidding
procedures of s. 255.20 and other applicable general law. In each case, the bid of the lowest responsive and
responsible hidder shatl be accepted unless all bids are rejected because the bids are toe high, or the board
determines it is in the best interests of the district to reject ali bids. In each case in which requests for
proposals, qualifications, or other competitive solicitations are used, the district shall determine which
response is most advantageous for the district and award the contract to that proposer. The board may

http: o flsenate. gow/Laws/Statutes/20 18/Chapter |90/AILL[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

require the bidders or proposers to furnish bond with a respensible surety to be approved by the board. If the
district does not receive a response to its competitive solicitation, the district may proceed to purchase such
goods, supplies, materials, or construction services in the manner it deems in the best interests of the
district, Nothing in this section shall prevent the board from undertaking and performing the construction,
aperation, and maintenance of any project or facility authorized by this act by the employment of labor,
material, and machinery.

(2) The provisions of the Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act, s. 287.055, apply to contracts for
engineering, architecture, landscape architecture, or registered surveying and mapping services let by the
board.

(3) Contracts for maintenance services for any district facility or project shall be subject to competitive
solicitation requirements when the amount thereof to be paid by the district exceeds the amount provided in
s. 287,017 for category four. The district shall adopt rules, policies, or procedures establishing competitive
solicitation precedures for maintenance services. Contracts for other services shall not be subject to
campetitive solicitation untess the district adopts a rule, poticy, or procedure applying competitive
solicitation procedures to said contracts,

History,—s, 2, ch, 80-407; 5. 9, ch. 91-308; 5. 113, ch. 94-11%; 5. 42, ch. 99-378; 5. 12, ch, 2007-160,

190.035 Fees, rentals, and charges; procedure for adoption and modifications; minimum revenue
requirements.—

(1} The district is authorized to prescribe, fix, estabtish, and collect rates, fees, rentals, or other charges,
hereinafter sometimes referred to as “revenues,” and to revise the same from time to time, for the facilities
and services furnished by the district, within the limits of the district, including, but not limited to,
recreational facilities, water management and control facilities, and water and sewer systems; to recover the
costs of making connection with any district facility or system; and to provide for reasonable penalties
against any user or property for any such rates, fees, rentals, or other charges that are delinguent.

(2) No such rates, fees, rentals, or other charges for any of the facilities or services of the district shall
be fixed until after a public hearing at which all the users of the proposed facility or services or owners,
tenants, or occupants served or to be served thereby and all other interested persons shall have an
opportunity to be heard concerning the proposed rates, fees, rentals, or other charges. Rates, fees, rentals,
and other charges shall be adopted under the administrative rulemaking authority of the district, but shall
not apply to district leases, Notice of such public hearing setting forth the proposed schedule or schedules of
rates, fees, rentals, and other charges shall have been published in a newspaper in the county and of general
circulation in the district at least once and at least 10 days prior to such public hearing. The rulemaking
hearing may be adjourned from time to time. After such hearing, such schedule or schedules, either as
initiatly praposed or as modified or amended, may be finally adopted. A copy of the schedule or schedules of
such rates, fees, rentals, or charges as finally adopted shall be kept on file in an office designated by the
board and shall be open at all reasonable times to public inspection. The rates, fees, rentals, or charges so
fixed for any class of users or property served shall be extended to cover any additional users or properties
thereafter served which shall fatt in the same class, without the necessity of any netice or hearing.

{3) Such rates, fees, rentals, and charges shall be just and equitable and uniform for users of the same
class, and when appropriate may be based or computed either upon the amount of service furnished, upon
the number of average number of persons residing or working in or otherwise occupying the premises served,
or upon any other factor affecting the use of the facilities furnished, or upon any combination of the
foregoing factors, as may be determined by the board on an equitable basis.

(4) The rates, fees, rentals, or other charges prescribed shall be such as will produce revenues, together
with any other assessments, taxes, revenues, or funds availabte or pledged for such purpose, at least
sufficient to provide for the items hereinafter tisted, but not necessarily in the order stated:

(a} To provide for all expenses of operation and maintenance of such facility or service;

{b) To pay when due all bonds and interest thereon for the payment of which such revenues are, or shall
have been, pledged or encumbered, including reserves for such purpose; and

{c) To provide for any other funds which may be required under the resolution or resolutions authorizing
the issuance of bonds pursuant to this act.

{5} The board shall have the power to enter into contracts for the use of the projects of the district and
with respect to the services and facilities furnished or to be furnished by the district.

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 10, ch, 91-308.

190.036 Recovery of delinquent charges.—In the event that any rates, fees, rentals, charges, or
delinguent penalties shall not be paid as and when due and shalt be in default for 60 days or mote, the
unpaid balance thereof and all interest accrued thereon, together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs,

may be recovered by the district in a civil action.

http:/fwww. flsenate. gov/T.aws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01.08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407.

190,037 Discontinuance of service,—In the event the fees, rentals, or other charges for water and sewer
services, or either of them, are not paid when due, the board shall have the power, under such reasonabte
rules and regulations as the board may adopt, to discontinue and shut off both water and sewer services untit
such fees, rentals, or other charges, including interest, penalties, and charges for the shutting off and
discantinuance and the restoration of such water and sewer services or both, are fuily paid; and, for such
purposes, the board may enter on any lands, waters, or premises of any person, firm, corporation, or body,
public or private, within the district limits. Such delinquent fees, rentals, or other charges, together with
interest, penalties, and charges for the shutting off and discontinuance and the restoration of such services
and facilities and reasonable attorney’s fees and other expenses, may be recovered by the district, which
may also enforce payment of such delinquent fees, rentals, or other charges by any other lawful method of
enforcement.

History,—s. 2, ch, 80-407; s, 82, ch, 81-259,

190.041 Enforcement and penalties,—The board or any aggrieved person may have recourse to such
remedies in law and at equity as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the provisions of this act,
including injunctive retief to enjoin or restrain any person violating the provisions of this act or any bylaws,
resolutions, resulations, rules, codes, or orders adopted under this act. In case any building or structure is
arected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, repaired, converted, or maintained, or any building, structure,
tand, or water is used, in violation of this act or of any code, order, resolution, or other regulation made
under authority conferred by this act or under law, the board or any citizen residing in the district may
institute any appropriate action or proceeding to prevent such untawful erection, constructicn,
reconstruction, alteration, repair, conversion, maintenance, or use; to restrain, correct, or avoid such
violation; to prevent the occupancy of such building, structure, land, or water; and to prevent any illegal act,
conduct, business, or use in or about such premises, land, or water.

History.—s. 2, ch, 80-407; s, 83, ch. B1-259.

190.043 Suits against the district.—Any suit or action brought or maintained against the district for
damages arising out of tort, including, without limitation, any claim arising upon account of an act causing an
injury or loss of property, personal injury, or death, shalt be subject to the timitations provided in s. 768.28.

History.—s, 2, ch, 80-407,

190.044 Exemption of district property from execution.—All district property shall be exempt from levy
and sale by virtue of an execution, and no execution or other judicial process shall issue against such
property, nor shall any judgment against the district be a charge or lien on its property or revenues; however,
nothing contained herein shall apply to or limit the rights of bondholders to pursue any remedy for the
enforcement of any tien or pledge given by the district in connection with any of the bonds or obligations of
the district,

History.—s, 2, ch, 80-407,

190.046 Termination, contraction, or expansion of district.—

(1} A landowner or the board may petition to contract or expand the boundaries of a community
development district in the following manner:

{a} The petition shatl contain the same information required by s. 190.005(1){a)1. and 8. In addition, if
the petitioner seeks to expand the district, the petiticn shall describe the proposed timetable for
construction of any district services to the area, the estimated cost of constructing the proposed services,
and the designation of the future general distribution, tocation, and extent of public and private uses of land
proposed for the area by the future tand use plan element of the adopted local government local
comprehensive plan, If the petitioner seeks to contract the district, the petition shall describe what services
and facilities are currently provided by the district to the area being removed, and the designation of the
future generat distribution, location, and extent of public and private uses of land proposed for the area by
the future land element of the adopted local government comprehensive plan.

(b} For those districts initially established by county ordinance, the petition for ordinance amendment
shall be filed with the county commissien. If the land to be included or excluded is, in whole or in part,
within the boundaries of a municipality, then the county commission shall not amend the ordinance without
municipal approval, A pubtic hearing shall be held in the same manner and with the same public notice as
other ardinance amendments, The county commission shalt consider the record of the public hearing and the
factors set forth in s. 190.005(1)(e) in making its determination to grant or deny the petition for ordinance
amendment.

{c) For those districts initially established by municipal ordinance pursuant to s. 190.005(2}(e), the

http:/fwww flsenate gov/Laws/Statutes/201 8/Chapter | 90/AI1[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

municipality shall assume the duties of the county commission set forth in paragraph (b); however, if any of
the land to be included or excluded, in whole or in part, is outside the boundaries of the municipality, then
the municipality shall not amend its ordinance without county commission approval.

(d)y1.  For those districts initially established by administrative rule pursuant to s. 190.005(1}, the petition
shall be filed with the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission,

2. Prior to filing the petition, the petitioner shall pay a filing fee of $1,500, to the county if the district or
the land to be added or deleted from the district is located within an unincorporated area or to the
menicipality if the district or the land to be added or deleted is located within an incorporated area, and to
each municipality the boundarfes of which are contiguous with or contain all or a pertion of the land within or
to be added to or deteted from the external boundaries of the district. The petitioner shatl submit a copy of
the petition to the same entities entitled to receive the filing fee. In addition, if the district is not the
petitioner, the petitioner shail file the petition with the district board of supervisors.

3. Each county and each municipality shall have the option of holding a public hearing as provided by s.
190.005{1){c). However, the public hearing shalt be limited to consideration of the contents of the petition
and whether the petition for amendment shoutd be supported by the county or municipality.

4, The district board of supervisors shall, in lieu of a hearing officer, hold the local public hearing
provided for by s. 190.005(1}(d). This locat pubtic hearing shakl be noticed in the same manner as provided in
s. 190.005(1)(d). Within 45 days of the conclusion of the hearing, the district board of supervisors shalt
transmit to the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission the full record of the local hearing, the
transcript of the hearing, any resolutions adopted by the local generat-purpose governments, and its
recommendation whether to grant the petition for amendment, The commission shall then proceed in
accordance with s. 190.005(1)(e).

5. Arule amending a district boundary shalt describe the land to be added or deleted.

{e}1. During the existence of a district initially established by administrative rule, the process to amend
the boundaries of the district pursuant to paragraphs {a)-{d) shall not permit a cumulative net total greater
than 50 percent of the land in the initial district, and in no event greater than 1,000 acres on a cumulative
net basis.

2, During the existence of a district initially established by county or municipat ordinance, the process to
amend the boundaries of the district pursuant to paragraphs {a)-(d) shall not permit a cumulative net total
greater than 50 percent of the land in the initial district, and in no event greater than 1,000 acres on a
cumulative net basis.

{f} Petitions to armend the boundaries of the district that exceed the amount of land specified in
paragraph (g} shall be processed in accordance with s. 190.005, and the petition shall include only the
elements set forth in s. 190.005(1}(a)1. and 5.-8. and the consent required by paragraph (g). However, the
resulting administrative rule or ordinance may only amend the boundaries of the district and may not
establish a new district or cause a new 6-year or 10-year period to begin pursuant to s, 190.006(3)(a)2. The
filing fee for such petitions shalt be as set forth in 5. 190.005{1)(b}, as applicable.

(g} Inall cases of a petition to amend the boundaries of a district, the filing of the petition by the district
board of supervisors constitutes consent of the landowners within the district. In all cases, written consent of
those landowners whose land is to be added to or deleted from the district as provided in s. $90.005(t)(a)2. is
required,

{2} The district shall remain in existence unless:

(a) The district is merged with another district as provided in subsection (3} or subsection (4);

{b) Alt of the specific community development systems, facilities, and services that it is authorized to
perform have been transferred to a general-purpose unit of locat government in the manner provided in
subsections {5}, (6), and (7); or

(¢) The district is dissclved as provided in subsection (8), subsection (%), or subsection {10).

(3} The district may merge with other community development districts upon filing a petition for merger,
which petition shall include the elements set forth in s, 190.005{1) and which shalt be evaluated using the
criteria set forth in s, 190.005(1) (e}, The fiting fee shall be as set forth in 5, 190.005(1}(b). In addition, the
petition shall state whether a new district is to be established or whether one district shall be the surviving
district, The district may merge with any other special districts upon filing a petition for establishment of a
community development district pursuant to s. 190.005. The government formed by a merger involving a
community development district pursuant to this section shall assume all indebtedness of, and receive title
to, all property owned by the preexisting special districts, and the rights of creditors and liens upon property
shall not be impaired by such merger. Any claim existing or action or proceeding pending by or against any
district that is a party to the merger may be continued as if the merger had not occurred, or the surviving
district may be substituted in the proceeding for the district that ceased to exist. Prior to filing the petition,
the districts desiring to merge shall enter into a merger agreement and shalt provide for the proper ailocation

http:/Awavw. flsenate. gov/L.aws/Siatutes/20 1 8/Chapter190/A1[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 150 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

of the indebtedness so assumed and the manner in which such debt shall be retired. The approval of the
merger agreement and the petiticn by the board of supervisors of the district shall constitute consent of the
[andowners within the district.

(4}(a) To achieve economies of scale, reduce costs to affected district residents and businesses in areas
with multiple existing districts, and encourage the merger of multiple districts, up to five districts that were
established by the same locat general-purpose government and whose board memberships are composed
entirely of qualified electors may merge into one surviving district through adoption of an ordinance by the
lecal general-purpose government, notwithstanding the acreage limitations otherwise set forth for the
establishment of a district in this chapter. The filing of a petition by the majority of the members of each
district board of supervisors seeking to merge constitutes consent of the landowners within each applicable
district.

{b) In addition to meeting the requirements of subsection (3), a merger agreement entered into between
the district boards subject to this subsection must also:

1. Require the surviving merged district board to consist of five elected board members.

2. Require each at-large beard seat to represent the entire geographic area of the surviving merged
district.

3. Ensure that each district to be merged is entitled to elect at least one board member from its former
boundary.

4. Ensure a fair allocation of board membership to represent the districts being merged. To that end:

a. [ two districts merge, two board members shall be elected from each of the districts and one member
shall be elected at-large.

b. If three districts merge, one board member shall be elected fram each of the three districts and two
board members shall be elected at-large.

c. If four districts merge, one board member shall be elected from each of the four districts and one
board member shall be elected at-large.

d. If five districts merge, one board member shall be elected from each of the five districts.

5. Require the election of board members for the surviving merged district to be held at the next generat
election following the merger, at which time all terms of preexisting board members shall end and the
merger shall be legally in effect.

{c} Before filing the merger petition with the tocal general-purpose government under this subsection,
each district proposing to merge must hold a public hearing within its district to provide information about
and take public comment on the proposed merger, merger agreement, and assignment of board seats. Notice
of the hearing shall be published at teast 14 days before the hearing. If, after the public hearing, a district
hoard decides that it no longer wants to merge and cancels the proposed merger agreement, the remaining
districts must each hold another public hearing on the revised merger agreement. A petition to merge may
not be filed for at least 30 days after the tast public hearing held by the districts proposing to merge.

{5 The local general-purpose government within the geographical boundaries of which the district lies
may adopt a nonemergency ordinance providing for a plan for the transfer of a specific community
development service from a district to the local general-purpose government. The plan must provide for the
assumption and guarantee of the district debt that is related to the service hy the local general-purpose
government and must demonstrate the ability of the local general-purpose government to provide such
service:

(a) As efficiently as the district.

(b At a level of quality equal to or higher than the level of quality actually detivered by the district to
the users of the service,

(c) At a charge equal to or lower than the actual charge by the district to the users of the service.

(6) Mo later than 30 days following the adoption of a transfer plan ordinance, the board of supervisors
may file, in the circuit court for the county in which the local general-purpose government that adopted the
ordinance is located, a petition seeking review by certiorari of the factual and legal basis for the adoption of
the transfer plan ordinance.

(7} Upon the transfer of all of the community development services of the district to a general-purpose
unit of local government, the district shall be terminated in accordance with a ptan of termination which
shall be adopted by the board of supervisors and filed with the clerk of the circuit court.

(8) If, within 5 years after the effective date of the rule or ordinance establishing the district, a
landowner has not received a development permit, as defined in chapter 380, on some part or alt of the area
covered by the district, then the district will be automatically dissolved and a judge of the circuit court shalt
cause a statement to that effect to be filed in the public records.

{9} In the event the district has become inactive pursuant to s. 189.062, the respective board of county
commissioners or city commission shall be informed and it shatl take appropriate action.

hitp:/fonwiv flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]




Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

(10) If a district has no outstanding financial obligations and no aperatiﬁg or maintenance responsibilities,
upon the petition of the district, the district may be dissolved by a nonemergency ordinance of the general-
purpose local governmental entity that established the district or, if the district was established by rule of
the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission, the district may be dissolved by repeal of such rule of
the commission. |

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; ss. 13, 19, ch. 84-360; 5. 49, ch. 89-169; s. 11, ch. 91-308; s. 43, ch. 99-378; s. 34, ch. 2004-345; s.
31, ch. 2004-353; s. 10, ch. 2009-142; 5. 22, ch, 2013-15; s, 70, ch, 2014-22; s. 3, ch, 2016-94; 5. 4, ch. 2017-3.

190,047 Incorporation or annexation of district.—

(1) Upon attaining the population standards for incorporation contained in s, 165.061 and as determined
by the Department of Economic Opportunity, any district wholly contained within the unincorporated area of
a county that also meets the other requirements for incorporation contained in s. 165,061 shall hold a
referendum at a general election on the question of whether to incorporate. However, any district contiguous
to the boundary of a municipality may be annexed to such municipality pursuant to the provisions of chapter
171,

(2) The Department of Economic Opportunity shall annually monitor the status of the district for purposes
of carrying out the proyisions of this section.

History,—s. 14, ch. 84-360; s. 13, ch. 2007-160; 5. 71, ch. 2011-142,

190.048 Sale of real estate within a district; required disclosure to purchaser,—Subsequent to the
establishment of a district under this chapter, each contract for the initial sale of a parcel of real property
and each contract for the initial sale of a residential unit within the district shall include, immediately prior
to the space reserved in the contract for the signature of the purchaser, the following disclosure statement in
boldfaced and conspicuous type which is larger than the type in the remaining text of the contract: “THE
_(Name of District)  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT MAY IMPOSE AND LEVY TAXES OR ASSESSMENTS, OR
BOTH TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS, ON THIS PROPERTY. THESE TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS PAY THE
CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE COSTS OF CERTAIN PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES OF THE
DISTRICT AND ARE SET ANNUALLY BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE DISTRICT. THESE TAXES AND
ASSESSMENTS ARE IN ADDITION TO COUNTY AND OTHER LOCAL GOYERNMENTAL TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS AND
ALL OTHER TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS PROVIDED FOR BY LAW."

History.—s. 15, ch. 84-360; s. 3, ch. 90-46; s. 44, ch. 99-378,

190.0485 Notice of establishment.—Within 30 days after the effective date of a rule or ordinance
establishing a community deyelopment district under this act, the district shall cause to be recorded in the
property records in the county in which it is located a “Notice of Establishment of the Community
Development District.” The notice shall, at a minimum, include the legal description of the district and a
copy of the disclosure statement specified in s. 190.048.

History.—s. 45, ch. 99-378.

190.049 Special acts prohibited, —Pursuant to s. 11(a)(21), Art. Il of the State Constitution, there shall
be no special law or general law of local application creating an independent special district which has the
powers enumerated in two or more of the paragraphs contained in s. 190.012, unless such district is created
pursuant to the provisions of s, 189,031,

History.—s. 2, ch. 80-407; s. 16, ch. 84-360; s. 47, ch. 99-378; s, 71, ch, 2014-22,

Senators Session Media Offices Connect with the
Senator List Bills Press Releases President's Office Senate
Find Your Legislators Calendars Publications Majority Office TER
District Maps Journals Videos Minority Office Senate Tracker
Vote Disclosures Appropriations Photos Secretary's Office Login
Committees Conferences Speeches Reference Sign Up
Committee List Reports Topics Glossary Tracker Help
Committee Executive Video Broadcast FAQ Plug-ins
Publications Appointments Schedule Help Adobe Acrobat
Search Execlitive About Publications Reader &
Bill Search Tips Suspensions Historical Information Links WinZip )
Statute Search Tips Redistricting = Archives

Site Search Tips Laws Opportunities Advisory Opinions

http://www.flsenate. gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate

Statutes Visit Us Public Records
Constitution Contact Us

Laws of Florida ) Page Program
o

Order - Legistore

Disclaimer: The information on this system is unverified, The journals or printed bills of the respective chambers should be consulted for official purposes.
Privacy Statement | Accessibility
Copyright @ 2000- 2018 State of Florida.

hitp://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2018/Chapter 190/A11[5/29/2018 9:01:08 AM]



	Top
	1. 06-06-18 - CC Workshop - Presentation - Establish a Community Development District - New Errol
	1 New Errol CDD PP presentation.pdf
	2 Chapter 190 - 2018 Florida Statutes - The Florida Senate.pdf

	Bottom

